
SCRUTINY : SOCIAL SERVICES
3.00 pm TUESDAY, 10TH APRIL, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 

possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. CTSB Annual Plan 2018-19 
To consider the attached report 5 - 34

4. Wellbeing Objective: Developing Safer 
Communities 
To consider the attached report 35 - 44

5. Wellbeing Objective: People Have Good Physical 
and Mental Health 
To consider the attached report 45 - 54

6. Wellbeing Objective: People Live Independently 
To consider the attached report 55 - 64

7. Annual Report Social Services Complaints, 
Representations and Compliments 2016/2017 
To consider the attached report 65 - 80

8. Developing a Work Programme for 2018/19 
To consider the attached report 81 - 100

9. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 

10. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

11. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillors:  W R Smith (Chair)
                     D Sammon (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: G Richards, T Rogers, I Thomas and 
C Tovey

Co-optees: M Elford and B Lewis

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

CTSB Annual Plan 2018-19

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to share with Scrutiny Committee the Annual Plan for 
2018/19 for the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board (CTSB). 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 It is recommended that the Scrutiny Committee:

- Notes the content of the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board Annual Plan for 2018/19.

Considers the priorities identified for 2018/19.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board (CTSB), which incorporates both children and 
adults safeguarding, is required to publish an Annual Plan and submit this to the 
Welsh Government by 31 March each year setting out its priorities for the coming 
year. 

3.2 The CTSB is a statutory partnership made up of the agencies that are responsible for 
safeguarding children and adults at risk in Cwm Taf. The aim of the CTSB is to 
ensure that people of all ages, living in Cwm Taf, are protected from abuse, neglect 
or other kinds of harm. This also involves preventing abuse, neglect or other kinds of 
harm from happening. 

Date Written 3 April 2018
Report Author Nicola Kingham
Service Area Social Services
Committee Date 10th April 2018

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



3.3 The Boards monitor how well agencies and other partnerships undertake their work 
with regard to safeguarding children and adults at risk and ensures safeguarding is 
embedded in all working practices. 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 The purpose of the annual plan is to be a useful tool of accountability and for 
evaluation. The guidance produced under Part 7 of the Social Services and Well 
Being (Wales) Act requires the annual plan to include the following information:

 a list of members; 
 the outcomes the Safeguarding Board proposes to achieve;
 a summary of any improvement the Safeguarding Board proposes to make to 

enable it better to fulfil its objectives;
 the amount of expenditure which the Safeguarding Board is likely to incur in 

order to achieve its objectives;
 a description of how the Safeguarding Board proposes to collaborate with 

other persons or bodies; 
 when and how the Safeguarding Board will give children and adults who are, 

or may be, affected by the exercise of its functions, the opportunity to 
participate in its work.

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 The Board works within the ethos of the national guidance to improve safeguarding 
arrangements for everyone and to break down artificial barriers based on age. 
Collaboration between children and adults safeguarding arrangements in Cwm Taf 
has resulted in a number of joint functions, including the joint Safeguarding Board. 
The Board continues to take every opportunity to collaborate across children and 
adults safeguarding to support joint working and sharing of information and learning.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 In addition to carrying out its core functions, each year the CTSB agrees on the key 
priority outcomes for the coming year to support it to achieve its objectives. The 
following priority outcomes have been identified for 2018/19:

 The Cwm Taf Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) effectively contributes 
to ensuring that children and adults at risk are able to live safe lives

 The performance of the Board and its partners is monitored and reviewed to 
ensure that safeguarding in Cwm Taf is effective

 The Board contributes to the development, implementation and monitoring of 
protocols and procedures that support the protection of adults and children 
and to prevent abuse

 The Board is aware of the prevalent safeguarding concerns in the area and 
engages in additional activities that facilitate or are conducive to the 
achievement of its objectives

Page 6



 The Board communicates effectively and appropriately with its stakeholders

 Practitioners in Cwm Taf are receiving or have access to good quality and up 
to date safeguarding training

 The Board will ensure the protection of people who, for their own safety and in 
their own best interests, need care that may deprive them of their liberty but 
who lack the capacity to consent

6.2 The plan also sets out the specific details of how the Board aims to address these 
priorities and the identified improvements to be achieved in 2018/19.

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 The CTSB has a committee and sub group structure in place to support the delivery 
of these priority outcomes (see Appendix 2 of the Annual Plan). 

7.2 A detailed work plan for the Board and its sub groups sits underneath the Annual 
Plan. The work plan will include the actions required to achieve the improvements 
required, who is responsible, timescales and measures of success. The progress of 
the work plan will be monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis and will form the 
basis of the Annual Report for 2018/2019. 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

8.1 The report contents contribute to the wellbeing objectives under Living Well: Keeping 
People Safe.

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER FOR SOCIAL SERVICES

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
PORTFOLIO MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 March 2018 Attached

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  
   Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board

   Annual Plan

2018 - 2019

P
age 9



2
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

Table of Contents Page
Safeguarding in Cwm Taf 3

What is abuse and neglect?
Safeguarding for all
Who are the members of the Safeguarding Board

4

What are the outcomes that we propose to achieve this year?
1: The Cwm Taf Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) effectively contributes to ensuring that children and adults at 
risk are able to live safe lives
2: The performance of the Board and its partners is monitored and reviewed to ensure that safeguarding in Cwm Taf is 
effective
3: The Board contributes to the development, implementation and monitoring of protocols and procedures that support 
the protection of adults and children and to prevent abuse
4: The Board is aware of the prevalent safeguarding concerns in the area and engages in additional activities that 
facilitate or are conducive to the achievement of its objectives
5: The Board communicates effectively and appropriately with its stakeholders
6: Practitioners in Cwm Taf are receiving or have access to good quality and up to date safeguarding training
7: The Board will ensure the protection of people who, for their own safety and in their own best interests, need care 
that may deprive them of their liberty but who lack the capacity to consent

5
6 - 7

8 - 10

10 -11

11 – 14

14 – 16
16 – 17
17 - 18

Who do we intend to collaborate with to achieve our objectives? 19 - 20

How will we provide people an opportunity to participate in the work of the board? 21

Our Budget 22

Are you concerned about someone? 23

Appendices
Board Membership
Sub Group Structure

24 - 25
26

P
age 10



3
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

SAFEGUARDING IN CWM TAF

The area of Cwm Taf covers the local authority areas of Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf with a population of almost 
300,000.1

Keeping children and adults who may have needs for care and support safe is everyone's responsibility. This means feeling safe 
and being safe within their home or in their community, school, work place or anywhere else they go.

The Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board (CTSB)2 is a statutory partnership made up of the agencies that are responsible for 
safeguarding children and adults at risk in Cwm Taf. The aim of the CTSB is to ensure that people of all ages, living in Cwm Taf, 
are protected from abuse, neglect or other kinds of harm. This also involves preventing abuse, neglect or other kinds of harm from 
happening. 

The two key safeguarding objectives around protection and prevention underpin the work of the CTSB and inform the priorities 
that we have agreed in this Annual Plan for 2018/2019.

The Cwm Taf Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) has been established since 2015 and acts as the single point of contact 
for all professionals to report safeguarding concerns across Cwm Taf. The MASH has significantly improved the sharing of 
information between agencies, helping to protect the most vulnerable children and adults from harm, neglect and abuse.

1 298,116 based on Mid Year Estimates 30 June 2016, Source: Data Unit Wales
2 Referenced throughout this document as the CTSB or the Board

P
age 11



4
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

What is Abuse and Neglect?

Safeguarding for All

The Board works within the ethos of the national guidance3 to improve safeguarding arrangements for everyone and to break down 
artificial barriers based on age. Collaboration between children and adults safeguarding arrangements in Cwm Taf has resulted in a 
number of joint functions, including a joint Safeguarding Board. The Board will continue to take every opportunity to collaborate 
across children and adults safeguarding to support joint working and sharing of information and learning.

Who are the Members of the Safeguarding Board?

The Lead Partner for the Board is Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council and the membership complies with the statutory 
guidance issued under Part 7 of the Social Services and Well Being Act 2014. A list of members is attached as Appendix 1.

3 Section 111, Part 7 of the Statutory Guidance under the Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014 (volume 1)

o Abuse means physical, sexual, psychological, emotional or financial abuse. 
o Neglect means a failure to meet a person’s basic physical, emotional, social or psychological needs, which is likely to result in an 

impairment of the person’s well-being.

P
age 12



5
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

WHAT ARE THE OUTCOMES THAT WE PROPOSE TO ACHIEVE THIS YEAR? 

In addition to carrying out its core functions4, each year the CTSB agrees on the key priority outcomes for the coming year to 
support it to achieve its objectives. The following priority outcomes have been identified for 2018/19:

4 Section 113, Part 7 of the Statutory Guidance under the Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014 (volume 1)

1. The Cwm Taf Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) effectively contributes to ensuring that children 
and adults at risk are able to live safe lives

2. The performance of the Board and its partners is monitored and reviewed to ensure that safeguarding 
in Cwm Taf is effective

3. The Board contributes to the development, implementation and monitoring of protocols and procedures 
that support the protection of adults and children and to prevent abuse

4. The Board is aware of the prevalent safeguarding concerns in the area and engages in additional 
activities that facilitate or are conducive to the achievement of its objectives

5. The Board communicates effectively and appropriately with its stakeholders

6. Practitioners in Cwm Taf are receiving or have access to good quality and up to date safeguarding 
training

7. The Board will ensure the protection of people who, for their own safety and in their own best interests, 
need care that may deprive them of their liberty but who lack the capacity to consent

P
age 13



6
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

The CTSB has a committee and sub group structure in place to support the delivery of these priority outcomes (see Appendix 2). 

A detailed work plan for the Board and its sub groups sits underneath this strategic Annual Plan. The work plan will include the 
actions required to achieve the improvements required, who is responsible, timescales and measures of success. The progress of 
the work plan will be monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis and will form the basis of the Annual Report for 2018/2019. 

An overview of what the Board intends to do to achieve its priority outcomes is detailed below. 

Strategic Outcome 1: The Cwm Taf Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) is effectively contributes to 
ensuring that children and adults at risk are able to live safe lives

What does this mean?
 The Cwm Taf MASH sits within the governance structure of the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board and is the first point of contact 

for safeguarding concerns and information sharing
 The responsibility for Cwm Taf MASH’s effectiveness lies with the Safeguarding Board, and individually with each of the Board 

partner agencies who are signed up to the Cwm Taf MASH Legal Agreement. 
 The Cwm Taf MASH Operational Committee oversees the ongoing development of the MASH to ensure it continues to achieve 

its goal to improve safeguarding and promote the welfare of children, young people and adults at risk. 

Where are we now?
 A MASH Quality Assurance Group has been set up to promote agency accountability though monitoring and evaluation of 

performance
 The processes within the MASH have been reviewed to streamline decision making
 A MASH accommodation review has been completed to provide improved fit for purpose accommodation
 The Cwm Taf MASH Mhub information sharing system license has been extended until March 2019 to allow for a full review of 

Mhub and alternative systems in 2018/19.

Priority Area What needs to improve?

P
age 14



7
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

Multi-agency decision making 
and integration

Improved coordination of information sharing, decision making and integration is necessary for the 
MASH to continue to be effective in safeguarding children and adults at risk. This year we will:

 Implement a MASH single telephone number to improve the efficiency of telephone referrals.
 Carry out a review of business support functions in the MASH to improve resilience
 Improve engagement with staff by holding development/briefing sessions and to support 

their well-being 
 Publish a MASH journal to raise awareness of the work being carried out in MASH 
 Implement an agreed funding formula for the sharing of costs associated with MASH activity 

across partner agencies

Information sharing systems Information sharing with the appropriate systems in place is crucial to effective partnership working 
in MASH. This year we will:

 Complete a review of information sharing systems and agree the technical specifications for 
future requirements, to include performance management information.

 Ensure that there is an effective and efficient information sharing system in place to support 
the MASH.

MASH Quality and 
Performance Management 

The MASH QA Group needs to support the development and improvement of MASH safeguarding 
processes to ensure that multi-agency working is improving outcomes for children and adults at 
risk. This year we will:

 Review existing MASH guidance in response to the Welsh Government Handling Individual 
Cases guidance.

 Develop a Performance management framework for MASH activity which includes a 
programme of audit activity

 Ensure that outcomes from MASH processes and activities are converted to appropriate 
learning in order to aid/develop prevention strategies specific to Cwm Taf.

P
age 15



8
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

Strategic Outcome 2: The performance of the Board and its partners is monitored and reviewed to ensure 
that safeguarding in Cwm Taf is effective 

What does this mean?
 The responsibility for the Board's effectiveness lies with the Board on a corporate level and also with each of the Board's 

individual partner agencies. 
 The Board must co-ordinate and challenge the effectiveness of the safeguarding activities carried out by each person or body 

represented on the Board.
 Each Safeguarding Board partner has a responsibility to ensure that the Board is operating effectively.

Where are we now?
 The Board produces an Annual Report on 31 July each year that sets out its achievements in the previous year.
 Performance data in relation to child and adult protection is produced on a quarterly basis and considered by the Board's 

Quality Assurance Sub Groups.
 A Performance Management Framework has been developed to ensure that the priorities for the year are implemented and 

reviewed.

Priority Area What needs to improve?

Evidencing the 
effectiveness of 
safeguarding in Cwm Taf

We need to ensure that the Board demonstrates how it is making a difference to the lives of children and 
adults at risk. This year we will:

 Strengthen our Performance Management Framework to demonstrate how we achieve positive 
outcomes for the people we aim to protect.

 Improve our methods of evaluation to measure the impact of our work and to agree 'what good 
looks like' in terms of quality and outcomes.

 Identify areas of good practice in other areas to help improve our work.

P
age 16



9
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

 Produce case studies to evidence effective and ineffective practice.
 Agree quality assurance and audit programmes for the year, to focus on multi agency 

safeguarding practice 
 Keep updated on emerging national themes relating to safeguarding, including case law, child 

and adult practice reviews and changes in the partnership landscape

Data Reporting The production of relevant and accurate multi agency data in relation to safeguarding is key to 
measuring effectiveness. This year we will:

 Ensure that the local authorities have the appropriate systems in place to produce accurate and 
timely multi agency information.

 Review our current multi-agency performance measures to ensure that they are consistent, 
relevant and meaningful and agree how we will collect this data.

 Ensure we share information across all areas of safeguarding, including children, adults, domestic 
abuse and child sexual exploitation

 Identify aspects of the strategic population needs assessment for Cwm Taf that have an impact 
on the work of the Board

 Analyse our data more rigorously to understand themes and trends to support preventative 
services.

 Strengthen our current arrangements for performance reporting to ensure that we are evidencing 
effectiveness.

Effective challenge and 
holding others to 
account

The CTSB must challenge relevant agencies in Cwm Taf to ensure that there are effective safeguarding 
arrangements in place  and that agencies are working together to safeguard children and adults at risk. 
This year we will: 

 Use multi agency safeguarding data to improve the challenge of safeguarding performance at 
Board level.

 Identify key areas for improvement via multi agency audits and ensure that these are 
implemented.

 Receive, consider and challenge individual agency inspection reports and annual reports at a 

P
age 17



10
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

Board level to support service improvements.
 Develop a partner agency audit report to present to the Board an assessment of  effectiveness of 

the safeguarding activities carried out 
 Contribute to the development of a national self assessment tool to assess the effectiveness of 

the Board in safeguarding children and adults at risk.

Strategic Outcome 3: The Board contributes to the development, implementation and monitoring of 
protocols and procedures that support the protection of adults and children and to prevent abuse

What does this mean?
 The Board needs to ensure that national safeguarding protocols and procedures remain relevant and fit for purpose.
 The Board must ensure that local protocols are in place to co-ordinate the inter-agency work being undertaken in Cwm Taf.
 Local protocols need to be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that they remain relevant and are improving inter-agency 

safeguarding practice.

Where are we now?
 In Cwm Taf the Protocols and Procedures Sub Group is responsible for developing and reviewing local safeguarding protocols 

and procedures on behalf of the CTSB.
 The Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Regional Board is currently leading on a multi-agency review of current national 

safeguarding policies and procedures for children and adults.

Priority Area What needs to improve?

National Protection 
Procedures

The existing procedures for safeguarding children and adults are being reviewed and all the 
regional Boards in Wales will need to contribute to and approve these. This year we will:

 Continue to participate in the Project Board that oversees the development of the new 

P
age 18



11
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

procedures.
 Participate in any additional Task Groups that are set up to develop the procedures.
 Take opportunities to involve practitioners in the consultation on the draft procedures.
 Provide feedback and approval to documents being drafted as part of the new procedures.
 Ensure that local protocols are reviewed and updated in line with the new procedures.

Local Safeguarding Protocols 
and procedures

The Board has a database of protocols which is maintained by the Protocols and Procedures Sub 
Group. This year we will:

 Ensure that existing protocols that are due for review are assessed for continued usefulness 
and effectiveness.

 Continue to take an opportunity to join up children and adults protocols to strengthen the 
'safeguarding for all' ethos.

 Ensure that new local protocols and procedures are only developed where a clear need has 
been identified.

 Involve and consult practitioners in the development of new local protocols and procedures
 Take opportunities to involve and consult with the public in the development of new local 

protocols and procedures

Strategic Outcome 4 : The Board is aware of the prevalent safeguarding concerns in the area and engages 
in additional activities that facilitate or are conducive to the achievement of its objectives 

What does this mean?
 The Board needs to be aware of the people who are at most risk of abuse or neglect and work with service providers to 

develop early identification and preventative services
 There is a need to promote inter-agency approaches to working with community groups and organisations where there may be 

people at risk of harm

P
age 19



12
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

 The Board needs to respond to any policy developments or other external factors that may influence its objectives to safeguard 
children and adults at risk

Where are we now?
 In 2017/18 the Board identified members of the Board to 'champion' specific areas of work to ensure that updates were 

provided and decisions were made on any key issues affecting specific groups of vulnerable people
 The Board recognises its role around prevention of abuse and neglect and has carried out work during 2017/18 to establish 

how this can be improved

 The partner agencies represent the Board on other Partnerships and provide updates on public protection initiatives in the area 
that link to safeguarding, such as modern slavery, human trafficking and radicalisation. 

 Links are established with the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) Steering Group to 
strengthen safeguarding arrangements for this vulnerable group

Priority Area What needs to improve?

Preventing abuse and neglect The Board has a responsibility to prevent children and adults at risk from being subjected to 
neglect, abuse or other forms of harm. This year we will:

 Ensure that any learning identified through our safeguarding activities supports the 
development of prevention strategies specific to Cwm Taf.

 Ensure that the data we collection include specific local prevention activity
 Seek to understand the effectiveness of the preventative services and programmes in Cwm 

Taf

Transition from Childhood to 
Adulthood

Learning from Child/Adult Practice reviews has proven that the transition from childhood to 
adulthood can be a difficult time, especially for vulnerable young people. This year we will:

 Develop a set of principles for transition that will be endorsed by the Board and shared with 
partner agencies

 Identify the young people who are likely to be at most risk and ensure that partner agencies 
work together to safeguard and support them through transition

P
age 20



13
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

Children Looked After The Board recognises that many of the children who are looked after are kept safe from harm. 
However, some will remain vulnerable and may have a number of needs that require them to be 
safeguarded. This year we will:

 Establish a reporting system to the Board, identifying what the Board needs to know with 
regards to children looked after   

 Contribute to the national work around managing the process whereby Cwm Taf children are 
placed out of the area and where there a children from outside of the area being placed in  
Cwm Taf.

Criminal Exploitation (County 
Lines)

Criminal exploitation of children and adults at risk is a geographically widespread form of harm. 
County lines is the police term for urban gangs supplying drugs to suburban areas and market and 
coastal towns using dedicated mobile phone lines or “deal lines”. It involves child criminal 
exploitation (CCE) as gangs use children and vulnerable people to move drugs and money. Gangs 
establish a base in the market location, typically by taking over the homes of local vulnerable adults 
by force or coercion in a practice referred to as ‘cuckooing’. This year we will:

 Raise awareness amongst professionals to understand the nature of this harm and to be 
able to spot the signs and respond appropriately

 Link with the Community Safety Partnership to ensure that multi agency training events are 
delivered to relevant staff

 Establish a reporting structure between the Board and the Serious Organised Crime Board 
on the prevalence of County Lines activity in Cwm Taf

Radicalisation Radicalisation of children, young people and adults at risk is an area of growing concern within the 
UK. While there is broad agreement over the factors influencing a person's vulnerability to 
radicalisation the relative influence of these factors and the way in which they interact are not clear 
cut. This year we will:

 Ensure that there continues to be Board representation on the relevant groups dealing with 
radicalisation (Contest Board, Channel Panel)

 Work in partnership with the Community Safety Partnership to ensure that there is adequate 
training in 'Prevent' which is the multi-agency set of arrangements aimed at preventing 

P
age 21



14
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

individuals and groups from engaging in violent extremism. 
 Raise awareness with staff and the community to recognise the early indicators of 

extremism

Modern Slavery Modern slavery is an umbrella term, encompassing human trafficking, slavery, servitude and forced 
labour. Anyone can become a victim of modern slavery and the Board needs to be assured that 
victims are being identified and supported appropriately. This year we will:

 Ensure that staff are made aware of the National Referral Mechanism process which 
provides a framework to identify, refer and record potential victims of modern slavery

 Strengthen the links with the Cwm Taf Community Safety Partnership to re-establish the 
Cwm Taf Modern Slavery Steering Group

Violence Against Women, 
Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence (VAWDASV)

The Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015 seeks an 
improved collective public sector response, stronger leadership and a more consistent focus on the 
way we tackle these issues in Wales. This year we will:

 Continue to make links with the Cwm Taf Community Safety Partnership to ensure that all 
relevant partner agency staff are trained in the VAWDASV 'Ask and Act' (Level 1 minimum)

 Improve the interface between safeguarding and MARAC5, recognising that the two 
processes will often work in parallel.

 Keep up to date with the issues relating to this vulnerable group including Female Genital 
Mutilation (FGM), honour based violence and forced marriage.

Strategic Outcome 5: The Board communicates effectively and appropriately with its stakeholders

What does this mean?
 The Board should raise awareness of it’s objectives to protect and prevent children, young people and adults from becoming at 

risk of abuse, neglect and other forms of harm, and provide information about how this might be achieved

5 Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference

P
age 22



15
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

 Children, young people or adults who are affected by the exercise of a Safeguarding Boards functions should be given the 
opportunity to participate in the work of the  Board (see section 4 of this plan)

 As part of developing a positive culture of learning the Board should ensure that information is widely disseminated within the 
workforce to inform them about best practice and learning arising from reviews, audits and other Board activities.

Where are we now?
 The Board has established an Engagement, Participation and Communication Sub Group to ensure that there clear processes 

in place for the identification of engagement and participation needs. 
 The Board distributes a bi-annual bulletin for professionals in Cwm Taf to share learning and best practice.
 The CTSB website has been updated and reviewed to improve content and usability
 Communication and Participation Strategies have been developed to ensure professionals are considerate to the 

communication needs of those we support

Priority Area What needs to improve?

Communication with the 
public

We need to build better relationships with our community and share information and learning on 
issues that improve public awareness of safeguarding. This year we will:

 Use the framework set out in our Communication Strategy to carry out the required actions  
to meet the needs of the community

 Improve awareness raising activities by utilising everyday sources within the community 
such as libraries, GP surgeries and supermarkets. 

 Develop effective methods of evaluating communication activity.
 Improve the Boards online presence through the CTSB website and partner agencies social 

media accounts/websites

Communication with staff We need to communicate with staff and professionals to develop knowledge and a better 
understanding of the objectives of the Board. This year will:

 Use the framework set out in our Communication Strategy to carry out the required actions 
to meet the needs of staff and professionals.

 Ensure that Board members take responsibility for disseminating information within their 

P
age 23



16
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

agencies and keeping staff up to date with the work of the Board
 Develop de-briefing processes to support practitioners 

Strategic Outcome 6: Practitioners in Cwm Taf are receiving or have access to good quality and up to date 
safeguarding training

What does this mean?
 The Board should review the training needs of practitioners in order to identify training needs 
 Our strategy for training should take into account themes and learning arising from the delivery of the Board's functions 
 The Board needs to ensure that there is a co-ordinated approach to training, taking into consideration regional and national 

training activity, to ensure consistency and minimise duplication

Where are we now?
 The Board has developed a multi agency training strategy which is monitored by the Training and Learning Sub Group
 We have developed a programme of multi agency practitioner forums to share learning arising from audits and reviews
 The local authorities' training department produces a multi-agency safeguarding  training calendar on an annual basis

 We have integrated the VAWDASV training framework into the existing training structure of the CTSB

Priority Area What needs to improve?

Multi-agency Safeguarding 
training

The Board needs to ensure that training is provided on an interagency and individual organisational 
basis to assist in the protection and prevention of abuse and neglect of children, young people and 
adults at risk of harm. This year we will:

 Identify the training priorities for the year
 Further explore safeguarding training delivery/quality within the Board's partner agencies to 

P
age 24



17
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

ensure a consistent approach in Cwm Taf
 Consider mandatory training requirements for public service staff
 Address the need to deliver higher level safeguarding training on a multi agency basis
 Improve the resilience of the delivery of specialist safeguarding training, eg. Reduction in 

Suicide and Self Harm
 Maximise the contributions of partner agencies in the delivery of multi agency safeguarding 

training

Sharing learning and best 
practice

We need to ensure that learning identified from audits and reviews is shared with staff and Board 
members. This year we will:

 Align the work of the Board's Sub Groups to improve methods of sharing learning and 
implementing improvement actions to improve practice and achieve better outcomes

 Develop a mutual communication process for shared learning between the CTSB and the 
National Independent Safeguarding Board (NISB). 

 Provide staff with interactive learning/engagement opportunities 
 Utilising the CTSB website and the CTSB E-Bulletin to provide up to date information to 

practitioners and the public 

Strategic Outcome 7: The Board will ensure the protection of people who, for their own safety and in their 
own best interests, need care that may deprive them of their liberty but who lack the capacity to consent

What does this mean?
 The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) provide legal protection for those vulnerable people who are deprived of their 

liberty, but who are not detained under mental health law.
 The DoLS exist to ensure that no one is deprived of their liberty without good reason and that it must be to provide a specific 

treatment or care plan that is in the person's best interests.

P
age 25



18
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

 The managing authority (the care home/hospital where the person is staying) must apply to the relevant supervisory body (the 
local authority or  the Health Board responsible for the hospital or care home) for authorisation of the deprivation of liberty

 The supervisory body must conduct six assessments to confirm that deprivation of liberty is lawful and appropriate.

Where are we now?
 The Board has a DoLS Operational Committee that ensures that the responsibilities of the partner agencies in relation to DoLS 

assessments are carried out in accordance with the relevant guidance and legislation
 A DoLS Policy has been approved by the Board and is being implemented across Cwm Taf

Priority Area What needs to improve?

DoLS Quality Assurance A Quality Assurance Sub Group has been set up to monitor, audit and quality assure the 
effectiveness of the DoLS work carried out by partner agencies. This year we will:

 Implement an agreed audit programme to identify themes and lessons learned from 
cases.

 Implement a process to manage any disagreements amongst professionals
 Analyse the available data to  provide the Board with a better understanding of the 

performance in relation to DoLS.

Supervisory Bodies staff There continues to be a high demand for DoLS assessments in Cwm Taf and there is a need 
to manage the capacity of staff to respond. This year we will:

 Ensure that the training provided to staff is implemented effectively
 Share learning from cases to improve practice

Involving people in the DoLS 
process

There is a need to seek opportunities to involve people (public, carers etc) in the DoLS 
process. This year we will:

 Make the best use of providers of advocacy services and involve these providers in 
the management of the DoLS process

 Evaluate how we are engaging with the people we support to ensure that the voice of 

P
age 26



19
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

the person is heard 

WHO DO WE INTEND TO COLLABORATE WITH TO ACHIEVE OUR OBJECTIVES? 

Working in partnership with other agencies is integral to the work of the Board. This not only applies to agencies within Cwm Taf as 
many safeguarding functions require consistency across Wales. Functions such as child and adult practice reviews may require 
wider collaboration with Boards across the UK. 

There may also be occasions when the Board will need to engage with other organisations to carry out its functions more 
effectively. This may be on an ad-hoc basis or as part of a more permanent arrangement via Board or Sub Group membership.

These collaborative activities will often occur during the year as situations arise and these are reported in the CTSB Annual Report. 
Planned collaborative activities have also been identified and are as follows:

Who will we collaborate 
with?

How will we collaborate?

Other Safeguarding Boards 
(including MASH)

 Existing networks across Wales to share good practice
 Task and Finish Groups to undertake specific pieces of work
 Child and Adult Practice Review Panels as and when these arise

Safeguarding agencies in 
Bridgend

 In light of the pending merger with Cwm Taf we will liaise and consult with staff and partner 
agencies in Bridgend for an assessment of impact.  

 On confirmation of the merger, hold a Safeguarding Development Day for Cwm Taf and 
Bridgend partner agencies prior to implementation

Community Safety 
Partnership 

 We will work in partnership with the CSP in co-ordinating and completing Domestic 
Homicide Reviews and making the links with the Child/Adult Review Process

 We will make the necessary links with the CSP to implement the Violence Against Women, 

P
age 27



20
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) strategy to ensure that staff are 
adequately trained and victims are supported appropriately.

 Appropriate representation from CTSB partner agencies on the CSP groups (including 
VAWDASV and MARAC, Serious Organised Crime Board) and vice versa to ensure that 
safeguarding issues are addressed and good practice is shared

Welsh Government (including 
Ministerial Advisory Group)

 Business Managers and Board Chairs networks
 Contribution to Welsh Government consultations
 Participation in relevant groups to share expertise and learning across Wales

National Independent 
Safeguarding Board

 Through NISB representation on the Board, updates and sharing information  
 Meetings with Board Chairs and Business Managers
 Develop a mutual learning platform to enable the CTSB to influence/guide the work of the 

NISB as well as share learning arising from work undertaken by the NISB

Public Service Board  The Board will continue to produce highlight reports to the PSB and will establish a process 
for reporting back to the Board on key areas of interest

 Business management collaboration to reduce duplication and develop a consistent 
approach for partnership working

Third Sector  Access to specialist services such as BAWSO6 to develop knowledge and expertise 
 Access to information such as DEWIS7 to support preventative services

6 BAWSO is a charity providing support to BME (Black Minority Ethic) communities
7 DEWIS is the place for information about wellbeing in Wales

P
age 28



21
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

HOW WILL WE PROVIDE PEOPLE AN OPPORTUNITY TO PARTICIPATE IN THE WORK OF THE BOARD?

The Board must ensure that children and adults are given the opportunity to participate in its work. We want to ensure that people 
are better informed about the work of the Board and are able to challenge openly. 
We need to creatively engage with children, young people and adults to improve participation in the work of the Board and raise the 
profile of safeguarding. This year we aim to increase the amount of engagement events held for the public, improving links with 
local forums and activity groups to ensure the voices of the people we support are thoroughly embedded into our work.
We want to ensure that any feedback provided is recorded and evaluated, with this being evidenced in our Annual Report.

How will we provide people with an opportunity to participate? When?

Advocacy - this ensures that everyone, particularly those who are the most vulnerable, is 
able to express their views and wishes when decisions are being made that affect them  

As and when required and reported to the 
Board's QA groups

Board Annual Development Day - involve children, young people and adults at risk in the 
development day to influence the Board's priorities for the year

January 2019

Set up a Youth Board - using existing youth groups, school councils to enable young 
people to share their views on safeguarding issues that affect them

By the end of 2018

Focus Groups/ Citizen Panels– access existing groups of individuals to consult on Board 
developments

Twice yearly

Utilise Third Sector partners to distribute information through their networks As and when required

National Safeguarding Week – arrange a public focussed event involving children, young 
people and adults, ask people to share their stories and their experiences 

November 2018

P
age 29



22
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19 

Hold a “celebration” of good practice event for Safeguarding staff By March 2019

OUR BUDGET FOR 2018/19 

The Board has agreed a budget for the year and this is resourced by financial contributions from the statutory partner agencies 
(Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil local authorities, Cwm Taf University Health Board, South Wales Police, National Probation 
Service and the Wales Community Rehabilitation Company). 

The budget set will enable the Board to delivery its priority outcomes as set out in this Annual Plan and will be allocated as follows:

Business Management Unit Staff Costs and Accommodation: £187,355
Advertising and Translation: £4,000
General Expenditure: £5,600 

P
age 30



23
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19

Are You Concerned About Someone?

If you suspect that a child or young person is being harmed or is at 
risk of being harmed then you have a duty to report it immediately. All 
calls concerning worries about children are treated seriously.  Contact 
your local Safeguarding Team on the numbers provided below:

If you suspect that an adult is being harmed or is at risk of being harmed 
then you have a duty to report it immediately. All calls concerning worries 
about vulnerable adults at risk are treated seriously.  Contact your local 
Safeguarding Team on the numbers provided below:

To contact Children or Adults Services outside office hours, at weekends and bank holidays, ring Cwm Taf Emergency Duty Team on 01443 
743665.

If you suspect that a child, young person or an adult is at immediate risk of harm call 999 and speak to the Police.

If you would like to report a non-urgent incident, or have a problem or general query, you can call 101, the 24 hour non-emergency number for the 
police. Use 101 when the incident is less urgent than 999. 
 
Remember - safeguarding is everyone's business!

For more information and advice visit: www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org

In Rhondda Cynon Taf:  01443 425006
In Merthyr Tydfil:  01685 725000
 
Opening Hours:
Monday - Thursday 8.30am - 5.00pm
Friday - 8.30am - 4.30pm

In Rhondda Cynon Taf:  01443 425003
In Merthyr Tydfil:  01685 725000
 
Opening Hours:
Monday - Thursday 8.30am - 5.00pm
Friday - 8.30am - 4.30pmP

age 31

http://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org/


24
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19

APPENDIX 1 - BOARD MEMBERSHIP

NAME TITLE AGENCY

Gio Isingrini

Philip Howells

Jackie Neale

Neil Elliot

Julie Clark

Esther Thomas

Ann Batley

Meira Jones

Director of Community and Children’s Services  (Co-Chair) 

Head Of Community Housing Services 

Adult Safeguarding Service Manager 

Service Director, Adult Services

Head of Safeguarding and Support (Children)

Temporary Director Education and Lifelong Learning

Service Director, Children Services

Head of Legal - Community Care and Children

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council

Lisa Curtis-Jones

Alex Beckham

Alyn Owen

Susan Walker

Annabel Lloyd

Mark Anderton

Carys Kennedy

Chief Officer, Social Services (Co-Chair) 

Safeguarding Principal Manager

Chief Officer, Community Regeneration

Chief Officer, Education

Head of Children Services

Head of Adult Services

Head of Legal and Governance

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

P
age 32



25
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19

Lynda Williams

Jane Randall

Director of Nursing, Midwifery and Patient Services

Head of Safeguarding

Cwm Taf University Health Board

Phil Ashby

Beth Aynsley/Sue Hurley

Superintendent

Independent Protecting Vulnerable Person Manager

South Wales Police

Eirian Evans Assistant Chief Officer National Probation Service

David Bebb Assistant Chief Executive Wales Community Rehabilitation Company

Ian Davy Chief Officer Voluntary Action Merthyr Tydfil

Nicola Kingham CTSB Business Manager Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board Business Unit

Lyndon Lewis Head of Service Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service

Jean Harrington Director / Interlink Chair TEDS (Treatment and Education Drug Service)

Linda Davies Designated Nurse (National Safeguarding Team) Public Health Wales

Nikki Harvey Assistant Director for Quality, Safety and Patient Experience Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust

Jan Pickles National Board Member National Independent Safeguarding Board

P
age 33



26
CTSB Annual Plan 2018/19

CWM TAF SAFEGUARDING BOARD

MASH Operational Committee 

DoLS QA Sub Group

Joint Operational Committee (Children and Adults) in place 
from May 2018

Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS) 

Operational Committee

Adult Review 
Group (ARG)

Child Review 
Group (CRG)

Protocols & Procedures Sub GroupTraining & Learning Sub GroupEngagement Participation & 
Communications Sub Group

Adult Quality 
Assurance Sub 
Group (AQA)

Children Quality 
Assurance Sub 
Group (QASG)

MASH Quality 
Assurance Sub 
Group (MAQA)

APPENDIX 2 - BOARD 
STRUCTURE

Multi Agency 
CSE Group 
(MACSE)

MASH Executive Board 

P
age 34



                  Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Wellbeing Objective: Developing Safer Communities

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1. We have set Wellbeing Objectives for Merthyr Tydfil CBC, and how we intend to 
achieve these objectives is set out in our plan Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our 
Community. 

1.2. This scrutiny report will demonstrate how the activities/services we deliver will support 
people to live in connected communities and feel safe where they live, work or spend 
their leisure time.

1.3. To demonstrate how, this report will focus on specific wellbeing projects the Council is 
undertaking to deliver this wellbeing objective, whilst also contributing to the national 
wellbeing goals.

1.4. There are five wellbeing projects:
 Prevention of doorstep crime and scamming;
 Development of a drug litter reporting ‘app’;
 Protection of children from age-restricted products; 
 Tackling violence against women and girls; and
 DIVERT 18-25 project

Date Written Lisa Curtis-Jones

Accountable for Delivery Lisa Curtis-Jones
Annabel Lloyd, Mark Anderton
Steve Peters

Wellbeing Champion Carys Kennedy

Committee Date Tuesday, 10th April 2018

Page 35

Agenda Item 4



1.5. This report provides a judgment on the performance of the five wellbeing projects. It is 
acknowledged that the impact on the Key Performance Indicators for 2017/18 will not 
be established until the data is verified and published later in the year.   

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1. The content of this report be discussed and noted.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1. The Council is committed to delivering excellent public protection and safeguarding 
services.  It will do this by delivering its key strategies through joint working with a range 
of partners.  The key strategies that focus on delivering these services are:

 Working Together to reduce Harm
 National Strategic Assessment of Serious Organised Crime
 Cwm Taf Safeguarding Children Board Annual Plan 2017-18
 Cwm Taf Safeguarding Adult Board Annual Plan 2017-18

3.2. The following following strategy has been approved by the Cwm Taf CSP Board; 
however, it will not be published until 1st April 2018 (subject to it going through the PSB 
governance arrangements).

 Cwm Taf Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence Strategy

Legislative Context

3.3. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to 
improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by 
maximising our contribution to the Wellbeing Goals.  We must do this in accordance 
with the sustainable development principle (the five ways of working).  

3.4. 1The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to 
improve the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need support 
and for transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on what matters 
to the person and how they can use their own strengths and resources to do those 
things, which is determined by an assessment that involves the person and the 
professional(s).

3.5. On 22 March 2017, Elected Members approved the Council’s Statement of Wellbeing. 
The document outlined the Council’s wellbeing objectives and listed what the Council 
proposed to do to support an improvement in community wellbeing across the County 

1 Read the essential guide to the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014

Page 36

http://gov.wales/dsjlg/publications/commmunitysafety/strategy/strategyen.pdf?lang=en
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/publications/731-national-strategic-assessment-of-serious-and-organised-crime-2016/file
http://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org/media/1540/ctscb-annual-plan-2017-2018.pdf
http://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org/media/1538/ctsab-annual-plan-2017-2018.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160127socialservicesacten.pdf


Borough.  The Statement also explained why it considers meeting these objectives will 
maximise our contribution to the achievement of the seven national wellbeing goals.

3.6. Work was then undertaken involving Elected Members, senior officers and other 
Council staff.  Following a review of the findings of this work which was reviewed 
alongside the views of communities across Merthyr Tydfil collected through community 
engagement; the Council produced its local Wellbeing Plan for Merthyr Tydfil.  Focus on 
the Future: Wellbeing in our Community outlines how the Council would work towards 
achieving its wellbeing objectives. 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE

4.1. An overview of the state of wellbeing in Cwm Taf was prepared in an assessment of 
wellbeing2, which provides background information on wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf.  In addition, a population assessment3 was prepared to provide an 
overview of care and support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range of services 
required to meet those needs.  The findings from the wellbeing and population 
assessment contributed to the development of the statement of wellbeing for Merthyr 
Tydfil.

Wellbeing Statement and Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community

4.2. In our wellbeing statement we set out the scope of each wellbeing objective and outline 
why we consider that meeting the objective will maximise our contribution to the 
achievement of the seven wellbeing goals.  

4.3. Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community was approved by Elected Members 
at the Full Council meeting on 26 July 2017. The focus of this report is on the wellbeing 
objective:

Developing Safer Communities
People living in connected communities feel safe where they live, work or spend their 
leisure time.

4.4. Our response to this objective reflects the work we do to develop safer communities 
broadly, and encompass keeping our children and adults safe and free from harm; 
creating a place where people value their neighbours and community. 

4.5. Throughout the first year of the Plan, the Council has focused on the following 
components and their related outcomes to achieve our wellbeing objective:

 Safeguarding vulnerable children and adults who are at risk of harm;
 Tackling the harm caused by the misuse of drugs and alcohol;

2 Information on the assessment of wellbeing is published on Our Cwm Taf website.
3 Information on the population assessment is published on Our Cwm Taf  website.

Page 37

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment


 Tackling violence against women and girls;
 Offender management (young people through to adults);
 Antisocial behaviour; and 
 Community cohesion.

Page 38



5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW

5.1. During year 1 of Focus on the Future, there were five projects identified to help deliver wellbeing 
improvements that would support the delivery of the wellbeing objective Developing safer communities. 
This report provides an evaluation of those five wellbeing projects:

Project name Project 
lead

Length of 
project

STATUS Evidence to support the Status
(maximum of 3 points)

Next steps 
(maximum of 3 points)

Prevention of 
doorstep crime 
and scamming

Paul Lewis 1 yr
Apr 17 – 
Mar 18

GREEN

 Operation Avalanche – Joint patrol 
with SWP advising businesses and 
residents

 Scams Project – Visits have been 
made to potential scam victims 
providing them with relevant 
information to protect themselves

 Call blockers. A number of call 
blockers have been installed free 
of charge to dementia patients.

 Devise a Prevent, Intelligence and 
Enforcement Campaign for the 
18/19

 Meet with Call Blocker Providers 
with a view to supplying free to 
vulnerable persons.

 Continue joint work with SWP.

Development of 
a drug litter 
reporting ‘app’

Ryan Evans 1 yr
Apr 17 – 
Mar 18

GREEN

 Exegesis (the developer) are in 
contact weekly throughout the 
development. Last contact 
23/03/18.

 Community safety partners have 
been kept up to date on the 
applications development and are 
expressing a substantial interesting 
in using it when ready. 

 Planning the roll out of the app 
and training on how to operate it. 

 In conjunction with the app 
training we are combining it with 
drug training. This will improve 
partners awareness of local issues 
and improve their skills in 
identifying the different types of 
drug litter. 

Protection of 
children from 
age-restricted 
projects

Paul Lewis 1 yr
Apr 17 – 
Mar 18

GREEN

 Follow up survey on use of novelty 
ID. 3 retailers sold who will now go 
through Licensing review.

 A Sensible Shopkeeper Scheme has 

 Devise a Prevent, Intelligence and 
Enforcement Campaign for the 
18/19

 Launch of Sensible Shopkeeper 

P
age 39



been produced to assist retailers 
with staff training on prevention of 
underage sales.

Scheme

Tackling 
violence against 
women and 
girls:
 DART
 COMETS & 

ROCKETS
 CREA8

Julie Beck 1 yr
Apr 17 – 
Mar 18

GREEN

 DART – Service delivery is on track 
and it is anticipated that the 
annual KPIs will be met or 
exceeded.

 Comets & Rockets – beneficiary 
numbers and outcomes exceeded.

 CREA8 – it is anticipated that the 
annual beneficiary target and 
outcomes will be met.

 DART – continue service delivery 
outlined in the Welsh Government 
Services Grant Delivery Plan.

 Comets & Rockets – funding for 
this project ends 31/7/18. 
Continuation funding has been sort 
from BBC Children In Need, and 
the outcome will be known during 
June 18.

 CREA8 – continue service delivery 
as agreed with the funder; Comic 
Relief.

DIVERT 18-25 
project

Gary Black 1 yr
Apr 17 – 
Mar 18

GREEN

 Since project initiation April 2015 
only 5 individuals have reoffended 
giving ups a 96% rate of non – 
reoffending.

 Funding sustained for 2018/19
 Over 100 signposts to other 

agencies for support (i.e. mental 
health, citizen’s advice).

 Continue to develop and roll out 
the Diver “Support” element of the 
programme (offered to all young 
people attending custody not just 
those hitting the criteria).

 Broaden the criteria of the 
programme so that more young 
people are suitable for the 
programme.

 Use the research and evaluation 
from the study of the night time 
economy to influence our work 
programmes within Divert and the 
Wider Community Safety 
Partnership focussing on 
prevention of offending in the 
night time economy.

P
age 40



5.2. This report provides judgments on the performance of the five wellbeing projects. It is 
acknowledged that the impact on the Key Performance Indicators for 2017/18 will not be 
established until the data has been verified and published later in the year.   

Key Performance Indicators 2016/17

Achieved

2017/18

Target

2017/18

Actual to date

Percentage of re-registrations of 
children on the Local Authority Child 
Protection Register

21.3 %

(27/127)

N/A Q1 – 19%4

(21/108)

Percentage of adults at risk of harm 
or neglect reported more than once 
during the year (same category of 
abuse)

21.9 % (97/442) N/A Q1 – 15.4%3

(27/175)

Percentage of child protection 
(Section 47) enquiries completed 
within required timescales5

32.7 % N/A Available year end6

Percentage of adult protection 
(Section 126) enquiries completed 
within statutory timescales

97.8 %

(156/170)

N/A Q1 – 94.3%3

(33/35)

Percentage of people in receipt of 
specialist domestic violence support 
reporting an improvement in quality 
of life

80 % 85 % Q3 - 88 %

Percentage of children supported to 
remain living within their family

66.2 %

(284/429)

N/A Available year end5

Percentage of children looked after 
who have experienced one or more 
changes of school which were not 
due to transitional arrangements

8.16 %

(8/98)

N/A Available year end5

 

5.3. Following the presentation of a ‘Lessons Learned’ report looking back on the first year 
of delivery against the Plan, the findings identified three broad themes to deliver the 
necessary improvements:

 Streamline the scrutiny process  

4 Q1 data has been generated from Swift using Business Objects.  Remaining data for 17/18 will be available at year end.  The reason for the 
delay in providing data is due to the transition to a new system and reporting software in Q2 and the need to develop new reports.
5   There are no statutory timescales for Section 47 enquiries; however, Merthyr Tydfil has set a local timescale of 10 days
6 Data for 17/18 will be available at year end.  The reason for the delay in providing data is due to the transition to a new system and reporting 
software in Q2 and the need to develop new reports.

Page 41



 Data quality
 Clearer reporting and information sharing

5.4. In response to these findings, Focus on the Future has been refocused to improve 
integration in order to deliver better outcomes and improve accountability. The 
refocused plan has a reduced number of objectives, down from nine to four, which sit 
under the four wellbeing themes.

Theme Wellbeing Objective

Best Start Children and young people have the best start to life and are equipped with the 
skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals.

Working Life
People feel supported to develop their skills to meet the needs of businesses, 
with a developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive 
destination.

Environmental 
Wellbeing Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside.

Living Well People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 
they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.

5.5. To positively prepare for this change, a Living Well workshop was held on 26th February 
2018 to review the requirements of the change and collaboratively plan a response for 
the refocussed Objective.  As part of this workshop:

 The wording of the refocused objective was confirmed as “People are empowered 
to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and enjoy 
good physical and mental health”

 Following group consideration of the key response components required to achieve 
the objective; six components were identified.  These are:

 Safeguarding children and adults who are at risk of harm;
 Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community Resilience; 
 Promoting healthy behaviours and increased levels of physical activity;
 Promote good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health;
 Clear and accessible information and advice; and  
 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home.

Page 42



 Attendees discussed how they could measure the impact of their services on the 
objective.  A list of suggested performance indicators and KPIs was built and is 
currently being finalised to enable contributors to explicitly evidence how they are 
progressing the components, and the overarching objective, whilst also positively 
contributing to the national wellbeing goals.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE

6.1. By 2022, we want the work we are doing for this objective to make a positive impact on 
the wellbeing of the communities within Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
Therefore, the outcomes and targets will be monitored and reviewed regularly to ensure 
that we are performing to the best of our abilities.  

Key Performance 
Indicators

2017/18

Target

2017/18

Actual to date

2018/19

Target

Percentage of re-
registrations of children on 
the Local Authority Child 
Protection Register

N/A
Q1 – 19%7

(21/108)
-8

Percentage of adults at risk 
of harm or neglect reported 
more than once during the 
year (same category of 
abuse)

N/A
Q1 – 15.4%3

(27/175)
-8

Percentage of child 
protection (Section 47) 
enquiries completed within 
required timescales9

N/A Available year10 
end -8

Percentage of adult 
protection (Section 126) 
enquiries completed within 
statutory timescales

N/A
Q1 – 94.3%3

(33/35)
-8

Percentage of people in 
receipt of specialist domestic 

85 % 88 % 88 %

7 Q1 data has been generated from Swift using Business Objects.  Remaining data for 17/18 will be available at year end.  The reason for the 
delay in providing data is due to the transition to a new system and reporting software in Q2 and the need to develop new reports.
8 There are no targets and ranks available for 2016 / 2017 due to issues encountered with implementation of the measures. Data is published 
at an all Wales level with no accompanying sub-national detail.  Welsh Government will revise the framework in due course
9   There are no statutory timescales for Section 47 enquiries; however, Merthyr Tydfil has set a local timescale of 10 days
10 Data for 17/18 will be available at year end.  The reason for the delay in providing data is due to the transition to a new system and 
reporting software in Q2 and the need to develop new reports.

Page 43



violence support reporting an 
improvement in quality of life

(to date)

Percentage of children 
supported to remain living 
within their family

N/A
Available year 

end10 -8

Percentage of children 
looked after who have 
experienced one or more 
changes of school which 
were not due to transitional 
arrangements

N/A Available year 
end10 -8

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

7.1. A collaborative working group that is to include all officers contributing to the Living Well 
theme will need to meet to review the status regarding the performance indicators and 
KPIs to ensure the data collected is verifiable and available for future update reports to 
Scrutiny Committees. From 2018-2019 onwards, the reporting of wellbeing projects will 
be made to the Governance Scrutiny Committee.  

7.2. This collaborative working group will also consider where wellbeing projects would be 
required to strengthen the response to the Environmental Wellbeing objective.  This will 
be planned for April to ensure that all officers contributing to the objective are clear on 
their roles and how their work supports the Council’s vision. 

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER FOR SOCIAL SERVICES

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 
2015

Statement of Wellbeing.

Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our Community

29 April 2015

22nd March 2017

26th July 2017

MTCBC Website

MTCBC Website

MTCBC Website

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Page 44

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf


                  Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Wellbeing Objective: People Have Good Physical and Mental Health

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1. We have set Wellbeing Objectives for Merthyr Tydfil CBC, and how we intend to 
achieve these objectives is set out in our plan Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our 
Community. 

1.2. There are many predictors of wellbeing and this objective focuses on two of them: 
physical health and mental health.  The link between physical health and mental health 
is unquestionable, poor physical health can lead to poor mental health and the other 
way round. This report focuses on the specific projects that the Council will undertake 
to support people to have good physical and mental health.   

1.3. There is one wellbeing project, Active Merthyr Plan, which has six distinct delivery 
strands; these six distinct delivery strands contribute to healthy behaviours and 
increasing physical activity key components.  

1.4. The six strands to the Active Merthyr wellbeing project are:

 Active Merthyr Plan
Physical activity for pre and post-natal mothers (Bump fit & Run Buggy Run)

Date Written 27th March 2018

Accountable for Delivery Lisa Curtis-Jones
Mark Thomas, Annabel Lloyd, 
Mark Anderton, Chis Hole

Wellbeing Champion Judith Jones

Committee Date Tuesday, 10th April 2018

Page 45

Agenda Item 5



Physical Literacy
MGirls
Leadership in Sport
Insport Gold
Club Support

1.5. In 2017/18 outcomes for the wellbeing projects were judged to be good.  All projects 
have been delivered within the planned timeframe of this year, within budget and most 
importantly run by local providers, with Active Merthyr facilitating and supporting 
sustainable community activity. It is acknowledged that the impact on the Key 
Performance Indicators for 2017/18 will not be established until the data is verified and 
published later in the year.   

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1. The content of this report be discussed and noted.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1. The Council is committed to delivering excellent services.  It will do this by delivering its 
key strategies and through joint working with a range of partners.  The key strategies 
that focus on delivering excellent services are:

 1Active Merthyr Plan 2017/18
 1Leisure Trust: Free Swim Plan 2017/18

3.2. The following strategies are at different stages of development.  When final approval 
has been granted they will be linked to the published document.

 Tackling Poverty Strategy
 Leisure Trust  Business Plan

Legislative Context

3.3. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to 
improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by 
maximising our contribution to the Wellbeing Goals.  We must do this in accordance 
with the sustainable development principle (the five ways of working).  

1 The reports are not published on the Council's website

Page 46

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted


3.4. 2The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to 
improve the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need support 
and for transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on what matters 
to the person and how they can use their own strengths and resources to do those 
things, which is determined by an assessment that involves the person and the 
professional(s).

3.5. On 22 March 2017, Elected Members approved the Council’s Statement of Wellbeing. 
The document outlined the Council’s wellbeing objectives and listed what the Council 
proposed to do to support an improvement in community wellbeing across the County 
Borough.  The Statement also explained why it considers meeting these objectives will 
maximise our contribution to the achievement of the seven national wellbeing goals.

3.6. Work was then undertaken involving Elected Members, senior officers and other 
Council staff.  Following a review of the findings of this work which was reviewed 
alongside the views of communities across Merthyr Tydfil collected through community 
engagement; the Council produced its local Wellbeing Plan for Merthyr Tydfil.  Focus on 
the Future: Wellbeing in our Community outlines how the Council would work towards 
achieving its wellbeing objectives. 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE

4.1. An overview of the state of wellbeing in Cwm Taf was prepared in an assessment of 
wellbeing3, which provides background information on wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf.  In addition, a population assessment4 was prepared to provide an 
overview of care and support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range of services 
required to meet those needs.  The findings from the wellbeing and population 
assessment contributed to the development of the statement of wellbeing for Merthyr 
Tydfil.

Wellbeing Statement and Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community

4.2. In our wellbeing statement we set out the scope of each wellbeing objective and outline 
why we consider that meeting the objective will maximise our contribution to the 
achievement of the seven wellbeing goals.  

4.3. Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community was approved by Elected Members 
at the Full Council meeting on 26 July 2017. The focus of this report is on the wellbeing 
objective:

People have good physical and mental health 

2 Read the essential guide to the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014
3 Information on the assessment of wellbeing is published on Our Cwm Taf website.
4 Information on the population assessment is published on Our Cwm Taf  website.

Page 47

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160127socialservicesacten.pdf
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment


People, adopting healthy behaviours earlier in life, are healthier feel good and function 
well.

4.4. There are many predictors of wellbeing and this objective focuses on two of them: 
physical health and mental health.  The link between physical health and mental health 
is unquestionable, poor physical health can lead to poor mental health and the other 
way round. 

4.5. Throughout the first year of the Plan, the Council has focused on the following 
components and their related outcomes to achieve our wellbeing objective:

 Promoting healthy behaviours from a young age
 Tackling adverse childhood experiences5

 Increasing levels of physical activity

5 Information on what are Adverse Childhood Experiences from Public Health Wales

Page 48

http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/ACE-Report-FINAL-E.pdf


5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW

5.1. During year 1 of Focus on the Future, there was one project identified to help deliver wellbeing 
improvements that would support the delivery of the wellbeing objective people have good physical and 
mental health. This report provides an evaluation of the wellbeing project and it’s six distinct delivery 
strands:

Active Merthyr 
Plan

Project lead Length of 
project

STATUS Evidence to support the Status
(maximum of 3 points)

Next steps 
(maximum of 3 points)

Physical activity 
for pre and post-
natal mothers 
(Bump Fit and 
Buggy Running)

John 
Sellwood

1 yr
Apr 17 – 
Mar 18

BLUE

Bump fit
  42 pregnant mothers along 

with the Cwm Taf Midwifery 
team take part in a consultation 
to help design appropriate 
interventions.  

 Joint workshops have taken 
place with midwifes and health 
visitors to ensure there is a 
consistent message of the 
benefits of physical activity in 
pregnancy, and to ensure that 
every contact counts.

Buggy Running
 People that have participated 

in the intervention have moved 
on to additional independent 
activities such as Parkrun.

 The Subjective Wellbeing 
scoring have improved of 
participants..

  Continue to support the 
commissioned providers to 
deliver the programmes.

Physical Literacy John 
Sellwood

1 yr
Apr 17 – 
Mar 18

BLUE

 “Books to life” at Trelewis 
Primary School with over 20 
families using the home 
resource. 

 Roll out the “Books to Life” 
project to other interested 
schools.

P
age 49



 Dance tots workshops 
delivered with 20

 Teacher’s and LSA’s upskilled.

M Girls John 
Sellwood

1 yr
Apr 17 – 
Mar 18

BLUE

 M Girls sessions weekly in all 4 
high schools with an average of 
over 100 girls taking part 
weekly.

 To continue supporting the M 
Girls program in the secondary 
schools and community, in 
addition introduce the program 
into Merthyr College. 

Leadership in 
Sport

John 
Sellwood

1 yr
Apr 17 – 
Mar 18 BLUE

 14 Primary Schools and 84 
Young Leaders engage 
delivering daily Physical Activity 
sessions in the school yard to 
school mates.

 To continue supporting the 
Young Leaders programme in 
the school currently engaged 
and recruit schools currently 
not engaged in program.

Insport Gold John 
Sellwood

1 yr
Apr 17 – 
Mar 18

BLUE

 Insport Gold consultation 
process complete

 Insport Gold Pre panel 
attended

 Insport Gold priority work 
areas agreed with Disability 
Sport Wales 

 Develop evidence portfolio
 Engage with key partners to 

plan interventions
 Meet with DSW case officer 
 Work towards 2020 submission

Club Support John 
Sellwood

1 yr
Apr 17 – 
Mar 18

BLUE

 10 Football clubs supported 
through Community Chest 

 Updated Gymnastics provision 
in place in Merthyr with 
development plan in place

 New Walking and Running 
forum in place and constituted 

 Facilitate club development 
calendar

 Support clubs through 
community chest programme

 Develop insport club 
programme

5.2. In 2017/18 outcomes for the wellbeing projects were judged to be good.  All projects have been delivered 
within the planned timeframe of this year, within budget and most importantly run by local providers, with 
Active Merthyr facilitating and supporting sustainable community activity. 

P
age 50



Key Performance Indicators 2016/17 
Achieved

2017/18 
Target

2017/18 
Actual to date

The number of visits to local authority sport and leisure facilities 
during the year per 1,000 population where the visitor will be 
participating in physical activity

8137

The percentage of children who achieve the Swim Wales 
National Curriculum Test (Key Stage 2)

71.0

Key Performance Indicators Wellbeing score (2017/18) Wellbeing Components (2017/18)

Events Count Score Good 
Feeling

Meaning & 
Purpose

Good 
RelationshipsWellbeing score of participants in 

Active Merthyr projects
8 188 3.37 3.34 3.35 3.56

5.3. At the beginning of the Active Merthyr projects, the participants undertook the subjective 
wellbeing testing to calculate their initial wellbeing score (shown above). It is expected 
that another test will be undertaken at the end of the year to compare their wellbeing 
scores. The intention is that the overall wellbeing score will improve.   

5.4. It is acknowledged that the impact on the Key Performance Indicators for 2017/18 will 
not be established until the data is verified and published later in the year.   

5.5. Following the presentation of a ‘Lessons Learned’ report looking back on the first year 
of delivery against the Plan, the findings identified three broad themes to deliver the 
necessary improvements:

 Streamline the scrutiny process  
 Data quality
 Clearer reporting and information sharing

5.6. In response to these findings, Focus on the Future has been refocused to improve 
integration in order to deliver better outcomes and improve accountability. The 
refocused plan has a reduced number of objectives, down from nine to four, which sit 
under the four wellbeing themes.

Theme Wellbeing Objective

Best Start Children and young people have the best start to life and are equipped with the 
skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals.

Page 51



Working Life
People feel supported to develop their skills to meet the needs of businesses, 
with a developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive 
destination.

Environmental 
Wellbeing Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside.

Living Well People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 
they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.

5.7. To positively prepare for this change, a Living Well workshop was held on 26th February 
2018 to review the requirements of the change and collaboratively plan a response for 
the refocussed Objective.  As part of this workshop:

 The wording of the refocused objective was confirmed as “People are empowered 
to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and enjoy 
good physical and mental health”

 Following group consideration of the key response components required to achieve 
the objective; six components were identified.  These are:

 Safeguarding children and adults who are at risk of harm;
 Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community Resilience; 
 Promoting healthy behaviours and increased levels of physical activity;
 Promote good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health;
 Clear and accessible information and advice; and  
 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home.

 Attendees discussed how they could measure the impact of their services on the 
objective.  A list of suggested performance indicators and KPIs was built and is 
currently being finalised to enable contributors to explicitly evidence how they are 
progressing the components, and the overarching objective, whilst also positively 
contributing to the national wellbeing goals.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE

6.1. By 2022, we want the work we are doing for this objective to make a positive impact on 
the wellbeing of the communities within Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
Therefore, the outcomes and targets will be monitored and reviewed regularly to ensure 
that we are performing to the best of our abilities.

Page 52



Key Performance Indicators 2017/18 
Target

2018/19 
Target

The number of visits to local authority sport and leisure facilities during the 
year per 1,000 population where the visitor will be participating in physical 
activity

The percentage of children who achieve the Swim Wales National 
Curriculum Test (Key Stage 2)

81.0

Wellbeing score (2017/18) Wellbeing Components (2017/18)

Events Count Score Good 
Feeling

Meaning & 
Purpose

Good 
Relationships

Wellbeing score of 
participants in Active Merthyr 
projects

N/A 8 188 3.37 3.34 3.35 3.56

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

7.1. A collaborative working group that is to include all officers contributing to the Living Well 
theme will need to meet to review the status regarding the performance indicators and 
KPIs to ensure the data collected is verifiable and available for future update reports to 
Scrutiny Committees. From 2018-2019 onwards, the reporting of wellbeing projects will 
be made to the Governance Scrutiny Committee.  

7.2. This collaborative working group will also consider where wellbeing projects would be 
required to strengthen the response to the Environmental Wellbeing objective.  This will 
be planned for April to ensure that all officers contributing to the objective are clear on 
their roles and how their work supports the Council’s vision. 

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER FOR SOCIAL SERVICES

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

Page 53



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 
2015

Statement of Wellbeing.

Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community

29 April 2015

March 2017

July 2017

MTCBC Website

MTCBC Website

MTCBC Website

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Page 54

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf


                  Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Wellbeing Objective: People Live Independently

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1. We have set Wellbeing Objectives for Merthyr Tydfil CBC, and how we intend to 
achieve these objectives is set out in our plan Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our 
Community. 

1.2. The focus of this objective is to help people with particular support needs to live 
independent and well lives in their communities for longer.  The type of support 
required to promote greater independence and wellbeing will differ for diverse groups 
in the community.

1.3. Therefore, this report focuses on the specific wellbeing projects that the Council will 
undertake to deliver its wellbeing objectives and contribute to the national wellbeing 
goals in these fields.   

1.4. There are 4 wellbeing projects which are being delivered:

 Well-being Website for Children and Young People;

Date Written 27th March 2018

Accountable for Delivery Lisa Curtis-Jones
Annabel Lloyd, Mark Anderton, 
Angela Edevane, 
Kerry O’Donovan,
Suzanne Lewis Abbot

Wellbeing Champion Anthony Lewis

Committee Date Tuesday, 10th April 2018

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



 Equality learning resource;
 Evaluate the Stay Well @Home Service; and
 Supporting People Pricing System (Cost Calculator).

1.5. This report provides a judgment on the performance of the four wellbeing projects. 
However, it is acknowledged that the impact on the Key Performance Indicators for 
2017/18 will not be established until the data is verified and published later in the year.   

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1. The content of this report be discussed and noted.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1. The Council is committed to delivering excellent services.  It will do this by delivering its 
key strategies and through joint working with a range of partners.  The key strategies 
that focus on delivering excellent services via ‘business as usual’ and key projects are:

 Strategic Equality Plan (2016-2020)
 Cwm Taf Ageing Well in Wales Plan
 Local Commissioning Plan 2017-20
 Cwm Taf Supporting People Regional Strategic Plan 2017-20 

Legislative Context

3.2. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to 
improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by 
maximising our contribution to the Wellbeing Goals.  We must do this in accordance 
with the sustainable development principle (the five ways of working).  

3.3. 1The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to 
improve the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need support 
and for transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on what matters 
to the person and how they can use their own strengths and resources to do those 
things, which is determined by an assessment that involves the person and the 
professional(s).

3.4. On 22 March 2017, Elected Members approved the Council’s Statement of Wellbeing. 
The document outlined the Council’s wellbeing objectives and listed what the Council 
proposed to do to support an improvement in community wellbeing across the County 

1 Read the essential guide to the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014

Page 56

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/2130/merthyr-tydfil-county-borough-council-strategic-equality-plan-for-2016-2020.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/2398/cwm-taf-ageing-well-in-wales-plan-v11-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/2936/lcp-2017-20-2.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3173/rsp_2017-20__revised_with_spend_plan_-eng.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160127socialservicesacten.pdf


Borough.  The Statement also explained why it considers meeting these objectives will 
maximise our contribution to the achievement of the seven national wellbeing goals.

3.5. Work was then undertaken involving Elected Members, senior officers and other 
Council staff.  Following a review of the findings of this work which was reviewed 
alongside the views of communities across Merthyr Tydfil collected through community 
engagement; the Council produced its local Wellbeing Plan for Merthyr Tydfil.  Focus on 
the Future: Wellbeing in our Community outlines how the Council would work towards 
achieving its wellbeing objectives. 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE

4.1. An overview of the state of wellbeing in Cwm Taf was prepared in an assessment of 
wellbeing2, which provides background information on wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf.  In addition, a population assessment3 was prepared to provide an 
overview of care and support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range of services 
required to meet those needs.  The findings from the wellbeing and population 
assessment contributed to the development of the statement of wellbeing for Merthyr 
Tydfil.

Wellbeing Statement and Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community

4.2. In our wellbeing statement we set out the scope of each wellbeing objective and outline 
why we consider that meeting the objective will maximise our contribution to the 
achievement of the seven wellbeing goals.  

4.3. Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community was approved by Elected Members 
at the Full Council meeting on 26 July 2017. The focus of this report is on the wellbeing 
objective:

People live independently

People, empowered to live independently within their communities, have the appropriate 
support, advice and assistance to meet their personal needs, live safely and access 
opportunities available to them.

4.4. The focus of this objective is to help people with particular support needs to live 
independent and well lives in their communities for longer.  The type of support required 
to promote greater independence and wellbeing will differ for diverse groups in the 
community

4.5. At the end of Year 1 of the Plan, the Council has focused on the following components 
and their related outcomes to achieve our wellbeing objective:

2 Information on the assessment of wellbeing is published on Our Cwm Taf website.
3 Information on the population assessment is published on Our Cwm Taf  website.

Page 57

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment


 Clearly and accessibly communicate sources of advice, assistance and support;
 Gather the views of service users to inform planning and service delivery;
 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home, and
 Better access to quality services and facilities to support a fairer society for people 

with protected characteristics.

Page 58



5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW

5.1. During year 1 of Focus on the Future, there were four projects identified to help deliver wellbeing 
improvements that would support the delivery of the wellbeing objective people live independently. This 
report provides an evaluation of the wellbeing project and it’s six distinct delivery strands:

Active Merthyr 
Plan

Project lead Length of 
project

STATUS Evidence to support the Status
(maximum of 3 points)

Next steps 
(maximum of 3 points)

Well-being 
Website for 
Children and 
Young People

Annabel 
Lloyd / 
Gareth 
Kedward 

6 months
Sep 17 – 
Mar 18

YELLOW

 Young people have been 
involved in the  design and 
 there is a draft  of the web 
pages

  Revise timeline and launch 
action plan following IAA 
workshop on 3.5.18

Equality learning 
resource

Kerry 
O’Donovan

1 year
Sep 17 – Sep 
18

GREEN

 To date, four fact sheets have 
been developed for Disability, 
Sexual Orientation, Race and 
Religion or Belief.

 Work on developing the 
remaining five fact sheets.

Evaluate the Stay 
Well @Home 
Service

Mark 
Anderton / 
Angela 
Edevane

1 year
Apr 17 – 
Mar 18

GREEN

 Overall indications show that 
the service is having a 
positive effect in preventing 
admissions (in terms of the 
increase in the ‘zero length 
of stay’). 

 The service has assisted 
people to return home 
sooner from hospital. 

 There has been a decrease 
(by 50% since June 2017) in 
the numbers of people being 
put on a transfer list to go to 
a community hospital from 
the main District General 
Hospitals. 

 TLG to commission formal 
evaluation to determine phase 
2

 WAO to review use service as 
part of review of Integrated 
Care Fund

 Continue monitoring of 
performance and efficacy of 
service via monthly joint board 
meetings

Supporting People 
Pricing System 

Suzanne 
Lewis-

2 years
Apr 17 – GREEN

 The calculations for the 
changes to the grant 
allocations are complete.

 SPPG to continue to monitor 
implementation via the SP 
Outcomes Monitoring 

P
age 59



(Cost Calculator). Abbott Mar 19  All Providers have been 
engaged and consulted as 
part of the process and have 
received their indicative 
allocations.

 Transition arrangements 
have been agreed with all 
providers.

 Start date for 2018 / 19 has 
been agreed. 

process and financial 
framework.

 SPPG to agree reinvestment 
of any SP Grant with 
particular reference to 
identified need, Funding 
Flexibilities and Regional 
Working.

5.2. This report provides judgments on the performance of the four wellbeing projects. However, it is 
acknowledged that the impact on the Key Performance Indicators for 2017/18 will not be established until 
the data is verified and published later in the year.   

P
age 60



Key Performance Indicators 2016/17 
Achieved

2017/18 
Actual to 

Date

2017/18 
Target

The % of people that received the right information or advice 
when they needed it.

79.1% 65%4

(169 / 262) 80%

% of admissions for people aged 61+ with a zero Level of Stay 
(LOS)

19.20 20.62  (to 
date) -5

Number of people supported through the SP Programme each 
financial year.  

766
353     

(to date)
N/A

The percentage of adults who completed a period of reablement 
and have a reduced package of care and support 6 months later

19.77 Annual 
Data6 -7

The percentage of the adult population who can live 
independently

95.99 Annual 
Data5 -

   

5.3. Following the presentation of a ‘Lessons Learned’ report looking back on the first year 
of delivery against the Plan, the findings identified three broad themes to deliver the 
necessary improvements:

 Streamline the scrutiny process  
 Data quality
 Clearer reporting and information sharing

5.4. In response to these findings, Focus on the Future has been refocused to improve 
integration in order to deliver better outcomes and improve accountability. The 
refocused plan has a reduced number of objectives, down from nine to four, which sit 
under the four wellbeing themes.

Theme Wellbeing Objective

Best Start Children and young people have the best start to life and are equipped with the 
skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals.

Working Life People feel supported to develop their skills to meet the needs of businesses, 
with a developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive 

4 It is important to note that the criteria applied to the qualitative survey for 2017 / 2018 differs from the previous year.  In addition, the cohort 
of people and number surveyed also differs from 2016 / 2017.  As a result, a direct comparison cannot be made with the 2016 / 2017 
performance figure.
5 The target is to increase the % of admissions for people aged 61+ with a zero Level of Stay (LOS).
6 Data for 17/18 will be available at year end.  The reason for the delay in providing data is due to the transition to a new system and reporting 
software in Q2 and the need to develop new reports.
7 There are no targets and ranks available for 2016 / 2017 due to issues encountered with implementation of the measures. Data is published 
at an all Wales level with no accompanying sub-national detail.  Welsh Government will revise the framework in due course.

Page 61



destination.

Environmental 
Wellbeing

Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside.

Living Well People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 
they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.

5.5. To positively prepare for this change, a Living Well workshop was held on 26th February 
2018 to review the requirements of the change and collaboratively plan a response for 
the refocussed Objective.  As part of this workshop:

 The wording of the refocused objective was confirmed as “People are empowered 
to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and enjoy 
good physical and mental health”

 Following group consideration of the key response components required to achieve 
the objective; six components were identified.  These are:

 Safeguarding children and adults who are at risk of harm;
 Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community Resilience; 
 Promoting healthy behaviours and increased levels of physical activity;
 Promote good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health;
 Clear and accessible information and advice; and  
 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home.

 Attendees discussed how they could measure the impact of their services on the 
objective.  A list of suggested performance indicators and KPIs was built and is 
currently being finalised to enable contributors to explicitly evidence how they are 
progressing the components, the overarching objective whilst also positively 
contributing to the national wellbeing goals.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE

6.1. By 2022, we want the work we are doing for this objective to make a positive impact on 
the wellbeing of the communities within Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
Therefore, the outcomes and targets will be monitored and reviewed regularly to ensure 
that we are performing to the best of our abilities. 

Page 62



Key Performance Indicators 2017/18 
(Actual 
to Date)

2017/18 
(Target)

2018/19 
(Target)

The % of people that received the right information or advice when 
they needed it.

65%8

(169/262) 81.0 -

% of admissions for people aged 61+ with a zero Level of Stay 
(LOS)

20.62   
(to date) -4 -4

Number of people supported through the SP Programme each 
financial year.  

353      
(to date) -

The percentage of adults who completed a period of reablement 
and have a reduced package of care and support 6 months later

Annual 
Data -5 -5

The percentage of the adult population who can live independently
Annual 
Data -

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

7.1. A collaborative working group that is to include all officers contributing to the Living Well 
theme will need to meet to review the status regarding the performance indicators and 
KPIs to ensure the data collected is verifiable and available for future update reports to 
Scrutiny Committees. From 2018-2019 onwards, the reporting of wellbeing projects will 
be made to the Governance Scrutiny Committee.  

7.2. This collaborative working group will also consider where wellbeing projects would be 
required to strengthen the response to the Environmental Wellbeing objective.  This will 
be planned for April to ensure that all officers contributing to the objective are clear on 
their roles and how their work supports the Council’s vision.

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER FOR SOCIAL SERVICES

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

8 It is important to note that the criteria applied to the qualitative survey for 2017 / 2018 differs from the previous year.  In addition, the cohort 
of people and number surveyed also differs from 2016 / 2017.  As a result, a direct comparison cannot be made with the 2016 / 2017 
performance figure.

Page 63



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 
2015

Statement of Wellbeing.

Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community

29 April 2015

March 2017

July 2017

MTCBC Website

MTCBC Website

MTCBC Website

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Page 64

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf


Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Annual Report Social Services Complaints, Representations 
and Compliments 2016/2017

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Local Authorities are required by the Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) 
Regulations 2014 and the Representations Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 to 
produce an Annual Report about the operation of their Social Services Complaints, 
Representations and Compliments policy and procedures.

1.2 This report highlights the key points contained in the Annual Social Services 
Complaints, Representations and Compliments report. 

1.3 The Annual Report on Social Services Complaints, Representations and 
Compliments for 2016/2017 is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 Scrutiny committee consider the report and raise questions and challenges that will 
improve practice and outcomes for our customers.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Social Services provide support to the most vulnerable people in our community, 
often in very difficult situations, and routinely deliver effective services that make a 
real difference in people’s lives. Sometimes, however for a variety of reasons, people 
will make a complaint about the service they have received.

Date Written 29th March 20110
Report Author Jonathan Strong
Service Area Social Services
Committee Date 10th April 2018

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



3.2 Local Authorities are required by the Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) 
Regulations 2014 and the Representations Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 to 
produce an Annual Report about the operation of their Social Services Complaints, 
Representations and Compliments policy and procedures.

3.3 The Annual Social Services Complaints, Representations and Compliments Report 
for 2016/2017 sets out the Departments performance in relation to how it has dealt 
with the complaints, representations and compliments it has received.

3.4 The report details the number of complaints that were received and dealt with at all 
the available stages of the policy across both children’s and adults’ services.

3.5 New guidelines for complaints, representations and compliments by Local Authority 
Social Services came into force in August 2014. The main difference between the 
new procedures and the new guidance is the removal of the Stage 3 Independent 
Panel Hearing. The regulations introduced a new two stage process and brought the 
Social Services procedures in line with the Corporate “Model Concerns and 
Complaints Policy and Guidance”.

3.6 The regulations aim to provide streamline complaints arrangements across the 
public sector and focus on an initial local resolution where the expectation is that the 
significant majority of complaints would be resolved.

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 The annual report for 2015/2016 showed that in total we received 64 complaints.

4.2 The table below details the complaints that were received in 2015/2016 across 
Children’s and Adult services.

Service Area Stage 1

Adult Services 25

Children’s Services 39

Total 64

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 The annual report for 2016/2017 showed that in total we received 68 complaints of 
which 96% were resolved at the informal stage.

5.2 The table below details the complaints that were received in 2016/2017 across 
Children’s and Adult services across all stages of the complaints process.

Page 66



Service Area Stage 1 Stage 2 Total

Adult Services 27 2 29

Children’s Services 38 1 39

Total 65 3 68

5.3 There was an increase of 4 or 6.25% in the total number of complaints received 
between 2015/2016 and 2016/2017. However this is still a significant reduction from 
the number of complaints received in 2014/2015.

5.4 For comparison purposes the number of complaints received over the last three 
years was as follows.

Service Area 2016/2017 2015/2016 2014/2015

Adult Services 29 25 36

Children’s Services 39 39 52

Total 68 64 88

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 For a variety of reasons, people will make a complaint about the service they have 
received. It is important that anyone who makes a complaint about our services has 
a right to be listened to properly with their concerns resolved quickly and effectively.  
In addition, it is important that Local Authorities learn from these complaints and 
where necessary use them to identify where services should be changed and 
improved.

6.2 Every effort is made to resolve matters at a local level with the emphasis on 
achieving successful resolution of complaints.  At stage one the Local Authority 
usually offers to discuss (either face-to-face or by telephone) the matter with the 
complainant within ten working days to attempt to resolve matters. This approach 
allows for quick and successful resolution of most complaints.

6.3 Complaints received that are progressed to Stage 2 are normally more complex in 
nature and often contain several components of dissatisfaction that need to be 
independently investigated.

6.4 Our emphasis at all stages is focused on achieving satisfactory resolution of matters 
rather than upholding or not upholding complaints.  

6.5 All complaints are unique in their own right and often contain several elements of 
dissatisfaction to be addressed. This is particularly relevant at the formal stage, 
hence the reason why the majority of stage two complaints are part upheld – some 
components being endorsed, while others not vindicated. Page 67



6.6 Communication issues including failure to respond within appropriate timescales to 
messages and failure to update customers on decision continued to be a theme 
through this reporting period.

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 Social Services provide support to the most vulnerable people in our community, 
often in very difficult situations, and routinely deliver effective services that make a 
real difference in people’s lives. Sometimes, however for a variety of reasons, people 
will make a complaint about the service they have received. It is important that 
anyone who makes a complaint about our services has a right to be listened to 
properly with their concerns resolved quickly and effectively.  In addition, it is 
important that Local Authorities learn from these complaints and where necessary 
use them to identify where services should be changed and improved.

7.2 Every effort is made to resolve matters at a local level with the emphasis on 
achieving successful resolution of complaints.  At stage one the Local Authority 
usually offers to discuss (either face-to-face or by telephone) the matter with the 
complainant within ten working days to attempt to resolve matters. This approach 
allows for quick and successful resolution of most complaints.

7.3 Whilst we do our very best and work hard to resolve complaints within the statutory 
timescales it is however acknowledge that some complaints can be complex, 
sensitive and difficult to resolve and that this is not possible on all occasions. It is 
important to note that an over emphasis on quick resolution within performance 
indicator timescales could detract from ensuring that full and proper consideration is 
given to complaints and that at times to achieve a successful resolution to the 
complaint it is necessary to take longer to investigate than the set timescales.

7.4 Timescales will be continued to be monitored to improve and promote adherence to 
statutory legislation and increase the timeliness of responses at stage one.

7.5 Social Services continues to adopt a positive attitude towards complaints, we 
continue to learn from complaints and view complaints as a valuable form of 
feedback, which assists in the development and improvement of services.  While not 
all complaints are upheld they do, however, provide useful information in respect of 
the way services are delivered.  They provided us with the opinions of our customers 
and also provide opportunities to learn lessons where a service has fallen short of 
expected standards.

7.6 Like all other Councils in Wales Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council are facing 
the need to reduce the amount of money we spend. However, despite the increasing 
challenges faced by public services, in general, the number of complaints received is 
relatively small in comparison to the nature of the services provided.

7.7 Social Services will continue to provide for the needs of the community, achieving 
the Council’s vision and strategic aims for the future. The needs of the population are 
changing and we will continue to learn and develop from complaints.  Services have 
continued to experience high levels of demand, reflecting the levels of disadvantage 
and the challenges faced by a significant number of families living in the County 
Borough. The Social Care Complaints Procedure provides citizens with an essential, 

Page 68



effective way of communicating their concerns so that levels of customer satisfaction 
can be increased and our services continue to improve. 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

8.1 This report contributes to the following wellbeing objectives.

 Best Start to Life
 Living Well

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES 
CABINET MEMBER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Social Services 
Complaints Policy

10th September 2014 Civic Centre

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 69



Appendix 1

Annual Report 
Social Services

Complaints, 
Representations and 

Compliments
2016 / 2017

Page 70



INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Local Authorities are required by regulation to produce an Annual Report about the operation of their Social 
Services Complaint procedures.  This report provides a summary of statistical information relating to 
complaints and representations dealt with during the period April 2016 to March 2017. 

Social Services in Merthyr Tydfil adopts a positive attitude towards complaints and views them as a valuable 
form of feedback, which assists in the development and improvement of services. Complaints also provide 
an opportunity to learn lessons where a service has fallen short of an expected standard.

The representation and complaints procedure is widely publicised generally and specifically to people who 
use our services and provides them with an opportunity to:
 Voice their concerns when they are dissatisfied in order that the issue can be rectified to their 

satisfaction, wherever possible;
 Make compliments;
 Suggest improvements;
 Challenge decisions.

The aim is for our representation and complaints procedure to secure a better service for all the people 
using social care services and is underpinned by the following key principles:
 Commitment to providing quality services;
 Accessible and supportive to those with particular needs;
 Prompt and responsive with resolution at the earliest possible opportunity Strong problem solving 

element;
 Operated without prejudice or discrimination;
 Adheres to the principle of equal opportunity.

The representation and complaints procedure also provides an opportunity for service users to address 
concerns in relation to independent sector providers where they remain dissatisfied following 
implementation of the agencies own internal complaints procedures.

Receipt of all the complaints received were acknowledged within the statutory timescale (two working days). 
In some cases the issues raised fell outside the responsibility of the Directorate and in these instances, the 
Complaints Officer liaises with the appropriate Directorate or Agency. 

The Social Services complaints process has two stages: 

Stage One: Local Resolution – The emphasis at this stage of the process is to resolve the complaint by means 
of discussion and problem solving.  The complainant will be offered a discussion about the issues they have 
raised and this can either be done by telephone or face to face in an attempt to resolve the issues.  This must 
be done within 10 working days of the receipt of the complaint. Following this discussion and any further 
investigation that is necessary, a written response will be provided within 5 working days.

Stage Two: Formal Consideration – If the complainant remains dissatisfied after completion of stage one, 
they may request that the complaint proceeds to stage two of the process.  This involves a formal 
independent investigation of the complaint with a report being produced by the investigating officer 
appointed to the case.  The timescale for dealing with this stage is 25 working days. 

Page 71



If the complainant remains dissatisfied with the outcome of the stage two investigation, they may progress 
their complaint to the Public Service Ombudsman for Wales.

All Social Services complaints received are recorded into the following categories:-

ANNUAL COUNCIL REPORTING FRAMEWORK (ACRF) MODEL
FOR CATEGORISATION OF COMPLAINTS

1. ACCESS
Lack of information; service delays; waiting lists; access to service; refusal of service.

2. ASSESSMENT
Decision delays; service costs; assessed needs; charging policies; delays in assessment
 The council failing to do something which the customer thinks it should have been 

done, even if it was not actually asked to do it:
o Failure to implement actions agreed in meetings.
o Failure to carry out an agreed / requested assessment.

3. CARE MANAGEMENT AND REVIEW
Removal and reduction of service; child protection; change of staff.
 The council failing to do something which the customer thinks it should have done, 

even if it was not actually asked to do it.
o Failure to implement actions agreed in meetings.
o Failure to carry out an agreed / requested assessment.

 The council doing something that the customer did not want it to do.
o The council making a decision to do something that the customer does want 
to happen in the future (e.g. planned placement changes, withdrawal of a payment 
facility).

4. RANGE OF SERVICES
Lack of service; identified needs not being met.

5 QUALITY OF SERVICE
Communication issues; not following through what was promised; continuity of care; not 
following procedure and policy; time keeping; failure to respond; breach of confidentiality; 
service quality; timescales; financial; late calls; medication; staff issues; conduct and 
attitude; standards.
 The council has not achieved the standard it says it will provide.
 The Service has not been provided to the standard which the customer thinks is 

reasonable:
o The council is carrying out its duties in an unsatisfactory way.
o Failure to follow council procedures including delayed processing, adherence 

to timescales, agreed workflows and stages.

 Unacceptable behaviour by staff including rudeness, violence and aggression.
 Poor communication from the department to service user including:

o Failure to respond in appropriate timescales to messages and 
correspondence – this could be specific identification of an individual 
member of staff or of the team / service in general.

o Staff failure to update customer with regard to changes to meetings, 
appointments etc.

Page 72



 The council failing to do something which it has been asked to do.
 The council failing to do something which the customer thinks it should have done, 

even if it was not actually asked to do it:
o Failure to implement actions agreed in meetings.
o Failure to implement actions following a previous complaint.
o Failure to carry out an agreed / requested assessment.

6. PROMOTING INDEPENDENCE AND SOCIAL INCLUSION
Discrimination; not being listened to.

Table 1: Overall complaints resolved

Service Area Stage 1 Stage 2 Total

Adult Services 27 2 29

Children’s Services 38 1 39

Total 65 3 68

The above table does not reflect the number of concerns received within the complaints department 
however if the matter is identified as case management and not a complaint we do not record these on our 
system but pass the concerns to the appropriate line manager.

Table 2:  Complaints over the last 2 years

Service Area 2015/16 2016/17

Adult Services 25 29

Children’s Services 39 39

Total 64 68

Page 73



ADULT SOCIAL SERVICES COMPLAINT – STAGE ONE

Timescale (at the time of reporting) 2016/17

Within 15 working days 58%

Over 15 working days 14%

Within 20 working days -

Over 20 working days -

Ongoing / On hold 28%

The stage one ‘start date’ is governed by (a) the date of acknowledgement, (b) the date on which an 
advocate is appointed or (c) where a complaint  is made by ‘other persons’, the date on which the Local 
Authority decides that the person has sufficient interest to warrant consideration.

CHILDREN’S SOCIAL SERVICES COMPLAINT – STAGE ONE

The stage one ‘start date’ is governed by (a) the date of acknowledgement, (b) the date on which an 
advocate is appointed or (c) where a complaint  is made by ‘other persons’, the date on which the Local 
Authority decides that the person has sufficient interest to warrant consideration.

Page 74



Timescale (at the time of reporting) 2016/17

Within 15 working days 54%

Over 15 working days 3%

Within 20 working days -

Over 20 working days -

Ongoing / On hold 43%

ADULT AND CHILDREN’S SOCIAL SERVICES COMPLAINTS – STAGE TWO

The formal complaints received are more complex in nature and often contain several components of 
dissatisfaction to be independently investigated.  During this reporting period, we received three complaints 
which were dealt with at stage 2.  There has been a significant reduction in stage 2 complaints, this is due in 
large part to the complaints department being more pro-active in the management of the complaints 
process  through setting up meetings with the Line Manager and complainant within the stage 1 process.

Page 75



COMPLAINT OUTCOMES
The emphasis of the complaints process is focused on achieving a satisfactory resolution of matters rather 
than upholding or not upholding complaints.  

All complaints are unique in their own right and often contain several elements of dissatisfaction to be 
addressed.  This is particularly relevant at the formal stage, hence the reason why the majority of stage 2 
complaints are part upheld – some components being agreed while others not supported.

Table 4: Adult Services Complaints Outcomes 2016/17

Not Upheld Part Upheld Upheld Total

Stage 1 16 4 2 22

Stage 2 0 2 0 2

Total 16 6 2 24

Page 76



Table 5: Children’s Services Complaints Outcomes 2016/17

Not Upheld Part Upheld Upheld Total

Stage 1 14 7 0 21

Stage 2 0 1 0 1

Total 14 8 0 22

COMPLEXITY 
It should be noted however that the low number of stage 2 complaints does not reflect the significant time 
that they demand of the complaints department and senior managers and principal officers in Social Services 
due to the complex and contentious nature of these complaints.

HABITUAL / VEXATIOUS COMPLAINANTS
During the year, one individual was subject to restrictions under this policy, as a result of their behaviour and 
persistence in pursuing a complaint where the council’s complaint procedure has been fully and properly 
implemented and exhausted.  Individual’s continued inclusion under the Habitual/Vexatious Complaints 
Policy is reviewed every six months. 

LEARNING THE LESSONS
It is crucial that there is learning from complaints at all stages of the procedure, resulting in improved 
services and service delivery, wherever possible.  Complaints provide useful information in respect of the 
way that services are delivered.

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Social Services adopts a positive attitude towards complaints, we continue to 
learn from complaints and view complaints as a valuable form of feedback, which assists in the development 
and improvement of services.  While not all complaints are upheld they do, however, provide useful 
information in respect of the way services are delivered.  They provided us with the opinions of our 
customers and also provide opportunities to learn lessons where a service has fallen short of expected 
standards.

Some examples of actions arising from outcomes of investigations of complaints are summarised:- 

 A common theme reported is a lack of information and communication from Social Services 
including failure to respond within appropriate timescales to messages and failure to update 
customers on decisions, delays in assessments, failure to implement agreed actions, and not 
following through what was promised.  Examples also include staff failure to update customers with 
regard to changes to meetings, appointments etc.  

 When the complaint is highly complex the Local Authority needs to ensure that they respond to 
‘scattergun’ complainants with one voice which will prevent the local authority being perceived as 
unable to communicate across departments

Page 77



 For managers to support staff members who are subjected to inappropriate; abusive and aggressive 
behaviour from their clients and families.  

 Since the Local Authority has adopted the Welsh Government guidance on handling Complaints and 
Representations by Local Authority Social Services the Complaints department has within stage 1 of 
the procedure arranged meetings between the complainants and the managers of the relevant 
departments.  This has significantly reduced the number of complaints escalating to stage 2. 

There is a need however to establish a better overview of complaints and utilise this to address themes and 
specific issues that arise to further improve services.

COMPLIMENTS
It is always important to also hear when people are happy with what we have done. A total of 10 
compliments and positive comments were formally recorded during the year.

Compliments provide valuable information regarding the quality of services identifies where they are 
working well and identifies a balanced reflection of members of the public’s perception of our services.

It is imperative that staff and managers pass all compliments received to the complaints department in order 
they can be recorded.

Examples of compliments received during the year:-
Comment:

‘A confident and skilful worker who will prove to be a real asset for this Local Authority in the years 
to come….It is difficult when considering the evidence in this case not to be reminded of the case of 
Baby Peter.  Thankfully the agencies intervened to rescue XX and the case recording is a poignant 
reminder of the value of effective safeguarding services in our society’.

‘I wish to convey my sincere gratitude to XX and XX at MTCBC, I cannot thank you enough please 
convey this to all involved’.

‘Thank you for all your help over the years’.

‘I just want to thank you for all your help with XX.  I am so grateful and I thank you and your team so 
much you go beyond and above your job and when I could not have been there for XX you have.  I 
hope you and your family have a blessed Christmas’.

‘Just wanted to thank everyone for the fantastic commitment and support shown and was 
impressed by the departments staff including the admin support’.

‘I am writing in connection with the services provided to me.  In particular I would like to highlight 
the work of XX as they have been the person whom I have had the most contact.  He is consummate 
professional who has always been concerned to ensure I was fully appraised of the complex 
regulations associated with the case.  He has pointed me in the right direction, doing a difficult job 
with tact, good humour, attention to detail and an obvious empathy for his clients.  Your team are a 
shining example of all that is best in the local authority service.  I would never have coped without 
their help’.

Page 78



CONCLUSION

The Social Care Complaints Procedure provides service users and their advocates with an effective way of 
communicating their concerns so that levels of customer satisfaction can be increased and our services 
continue to improve.

Like all other Councils in Wales we are facing the need to reduce the amount of money we spend. However, 
despite the increasing challenges faced by public services, in general, the number of complaints received is 
relatively small in comparison to the nature of the services provided. Overall, 65 of all complaints were 
resolved at stage one.  However, it should be noted, that we need to improve on the number of stage one 
complaint’s we resolve within 15 working days.  

Social Services continue to provide for the needs of the community, achieving the Council’s vision and 
strategic aims for the future. The needs of the population are changing and we will continue to learn and 
develop from complaints.  On average, users of our services recognise the support and good practice 
afforded to them and the number of complaints recorded continues to be a very low percentage of the total 
number of people and children of Merthyr Tydfil who are provided with services.  

The pressure on social services continues to increase with a rise in public expectation of the services we 
provide. This coupled with an increasing demand and an increase in the complexity of the cases that social 
services are dealing with will inevitably result in an increase in service requests for social services across both 
Adult Services and Children’s Services.  

Services have continued to experience high levels of demand, reflecting the levels of disadvantage and the 
challenges faced by a significant number of families living in the County Borough. The Social Care Complaints 
Procedure provides citizens with an essential, effective way of communicating their concerns so that levels 
of customer satisfaction can be increased and our services continue to improve.  With the Implementation of 
the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act in April 2016 the expectations of the people we serve has 
increased, this will also be in the context of continued austerity.  We are therefore likely to continue to see 
an increase in complaints whilst services develop to meet the new level of expectation and austerity 
measures are absorbed.

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
       Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 
 
 

To:  Committee Members, 

Developing a Work Programme for 2018/19 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1   At the start of each municipal year each Scrutiny Committees begins to devise a 

work programme for the following 12 months. 
 
1.2   This report provides some information for committee members to consider when 

preparing the work programme. 
 
2.0  RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
2.1    The Committee notes the contents of this report. 
 
2.2   The Committee considers establishing a Task and Finish Group to prepare a draft 

work programme for submission to the next committee meeting for further 
discussion / agreement. 

 

 
3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3.1 Scrutiny was introduced in local government across the UK through the Local 

Government Act 2000, as the traditional “Committee System” of local government 
administration was replaced with a more streamlined “Cabinet and Scrutiny 
System”. Scrutiny was seen by the Centre for Public Scrutiny as having four 
‘cornerstones’, namely:  

 
• Led by ‘independent minded governors who own the scrutiny role;  
• Acts as a ‘critical friend’ of the executive, holding decision makers to account;  
• Represents the views and concerns of the citizen; and  
• Leads to the improvement of public services.  

 
3.2 Broadly speaking, local government scrutiny committees operate in a manner 

similar to the select committees supporting the UK Parliament. They are composed 

Date Written 2nd April 2018 
Report Author Howard Jones 
Service Area Scrutiny 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt 
Committee Date 10th April  2018 

Page 81

Agenda Item 8



 

of non-executive councillors of all political groups (in proportion to the Council’s 
overall political balance), and meet both in public and in private to:  
• Help the Administration develop and review policies;  
• Test the Council’s performance and offer advice for improvement;  
• Provide pre-decision scrutiny of decisions that the administration is about to 

make;  
• Periodically call in for examination decisions that the administration has 

recently made;  
• Offer a platform for citizens and citizen groups to represent their concerns or 

ideas for improvement. 
 
3.3 Scrutiny is recognised as playing a vital and statutory role in the council's 

governance, shaping the agenda, influencing policy and holding decision makers 
to account, engaging the public and building the organisation’s resilience and 
accountability in its working with regulators, partners, the media and citizens. 

 
3.4 Although scrutiny covers all areas over which the Cabinet has authority, a number 

of key areas are specified in legislation and should be taken into account when 
developing the work programmes. For instance:  

 
• The Police and Justice Act 2006 requires each Council to designate a 

committee as its statutory Crime and Disorder Committee, providing powers to 
scrutinise the way the Council is working with the Police and other agencies to 
tackle crime and disorder and support community safety;  
 

• The Local Government Measure (Wales) 2009 gives scrutiny a statutory role 
in securing improvement of public services under the Wales Programme for 
Improvement, providing assurance to bodies like Wales Audit Office, Estyn 
and the Care and Social Services Inspectorate for Wales that the Council is 
providing robust and effective self-regulation;  

 
• The Local Government Measure (Wales) 2011 requires Councils to ensure 

that its scrutiny function takes into account the citizen’s view, making 
provisions for public co-option onto scrutiny committees, a close relationship 
between the Council and its local voluntary services council, and requiring that 
authorities have protocols for public involvement.  

 
• The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 specifies that each 

Council should designate a committee as its statutory committee to scrutinise 
the Council and its local strategic partners in health, policing, environment and 
the third sector working to secure wellbeing for the population through its local 
Public Services Board (Cwm Taf Public Services Board). 

 
3.5 The quality of the environment in which scrutiny operates, the practice of scrutiny 

and the outcomes that it delivers can be usefully measured through the framework 
of the Characteristics of Effective Scrutiny in Wales (see APPENDIX I), developed 
by all 22 local authorities in Wales in partnership with the Centre for Public 
Scrutiny and the Wales Audit Office. This framework identifies 15 key 
characteristics that if followed effectively will deliver: 
 
• Better outcomes for the area; 
• Better decisions for the organisation; and 

Page 82



 

• Better engagement with the public. 
 

 

4.0 DEVELOPING THE WORK PROGRAMME. 
 
4.1 Setting a work programme for each of the scrutiny committees is an important 

stage in the Scrutiny process. An effective and well planned work programme will 
identify the key topics that scrutiny will consider over the coming year (June 2018 
to May 2019). The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 requires Scrutiny 
Committees to publish forward plans of their scrutiny work. 

 
4.2 Scrutiny is a Member-led function and as such it is up to the scrutiny committees 

themselves to determine the work programmes. It is vital that scrutiny members 
take responsibility for both drawing up and managing their own work programme. 
The work programme is a working document that is subject to change and 
Members can add, remove, and defer items as necessary. A Work Programme will 
provide a clear picture to the public and partners of planned scrutiny activity 

 
4.3 “Effective work programming is the bedrock of an effective scrutiny function. Done 

well, it can help to lay the foundations for targeted, incisive and timely work on 
issues of local importance, where scrutiny can add value. Done badly, scrutiny can 
end up wasting time and resources on issues where the impact of any work done is 
likely to be minimal.”1  

 
4.4 The Wales Audit Office2 says that “Councils should ensure that the contents of 

forward work programmes are based on sound criteria with a clear rationale for 
topic selection and that sufficient consideration is given to the method of scrutiny, 
rather than just the selection of topics. A key criterion for the selection of topics 
and the method of scrutiny should be the extent to which scrutiny committees are 
likely to have an impact in the area they have selected.”  

 
“To help ensure that scrutiny has an impact, scrutiny committees may have to 
balance a desire to examine a large number of topics with the likelihood of 
securing greater impact through focusing on a small number of items in more 
detail.” 
 

4.5 Some key principles for setting work programmes are shown below. A topic does 
not need to meet all of these criteria in order to be scrutinised, but they are 
intended as a guide for prioritisation. 

 
• Is the issue a priority area for the Council? 
• Is it a key issue for local people? 
• Will it be practicable to implement the outcomes of the scrutiny? 
• Are improvements for local people likely? 
• Does it examine a poor performing service? 
• Will it result in improvements to the way the Council operates? 
• Is it related to new Government guidance or legislation? 

 

                                            
1 Centre for public Scrutiny (CfPS) 
2 “Good Scrutiny? Good Question!” 20th May 2014 http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=113&offset=0 
 

Page 83

http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=113&offset=0


 

4.6 The following criteria may also be helpful in identifying what issues are not suitable 
for scrutiny:  

 
• The issue is already being examined by another body. 
• The matter is prejudicial to the Council's interests.  
• The matter relates to a specific case falling within the complaints procedure, or 

should be dealt with via the complaints process.  
• The issue relates to an individual disciplinary matter or grievance. 

 
4.7 Sources of information to identify key topics for the work programme come from a 

wide range of sources including:  
 

• Suggestions made by Council Members and Co-opted members  
• Suggestions made by senior management  
• Suggestions made by members of the public 
• Corporate performance reports  
• Suggestions made by partners and stakeholders  
• Suggestions made by Regulators 
• The Council's Wellbeing Objectives  
• Topics from budget monitoring reports  
• Issues from audit and inspection reports  
• Performance issues 
• Inspectors’ and Regulators’ concerns (e.g. ESTYN, WAO and CSSIW) 
 
 Please see APPENDIX II (Scrutiny Work Programme – Prioritisation Process) and 
APPENDIX III (Scrutiny Work Programme Proposal / Request Form) 

 
4.8 The Committee will also have considered:- 

 

• Its areas of responsibilities / remit (see APPENDIX IV) 
• the roles that scrutiny undertakes e.g. holding the Cabinet and decision-makers 

to account; policy review and development; performance monitoring;  external 
scrutiny. (see APPENDIX V) 
 

APPENDIX VII is the work programme document that will need to be completed by 
each of the scrutiny committees 
 

 
4.9 The Welsh Government is keen that local authorities encourage members of the 

public to participate and engage in scrutiny activity. Such mechanisms of 
engagement include for example a member of the public requesting that an item 
be placed on an agenda for consideration (providing this is of immediate relevance 
to a topic included on its Work Programme); and the ability to submit evidence 
(oral or written) to a planned or ongoing scrutiny review or investigation (taken 
from the work programme).  

 

Page 84



 

4.10 An article will be in the next Contact magazine asking the public for suggestions for 
the work programmes. The Communications department will also put notifications 
out on Twitter and Facebook asking for work programme suggestions.  

 
4.11 There is a mechanism in place on the scrutiny pages of the Councils website to 

allow anyone to submit suggestions for the work programmes (online form).  
 
4.12 Should any members of the committee have suggestions to get the public more 

involved in the scrutiny process, please can you contact the scrutiny section 
accordingly. 

 
 

HOWARD JONES 
SCRUTINY OFFICER 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
   
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



National Welsh Scrutiny Officers Network  
 
Outcomes and characteristics for effective local government overview & scrutiny  
 
 
Outcome  
What does good 
scrutiny seek to 
achieve? 
 

Characteristics 
What would it look like? How could we recognise it? 

 
1. Democratic 

accountability 
drives 
improvement in 
public services.  
 

“Better Outcomes” 

 
Environment  
 
i) Overview & scrutiny has a clearly defined and valued role in the council's improvement and 

governance arrangements.  
 

ii) Overview & scrutiny has the dedicated officer support it needs from officers who are able to 
undertake independent research effectively, and provides councillors with high-quality analysis, 
advice and training.  

 
Practice  

 
iii) Overview & scrutiny inquiries are non-political, methodologically sound and incorporate a wide 

range of evidence and perspectives.   
 

Impact  
 
iv) Overview & scrutiny regularly engages in evidence based challenge of decision makers and service 

providers.  
 

v) Overview & scrutiny provides viable and well evidenced solutions to recognised problems. 
 

 
 
2. Democratic 

decision making is 
accountable, 
inclusive and 
robust.  

 
“Better decisions” 

 
Environment  
 
i) Overview & scrutiny councillors have the training and development opportunities they need to 

undertake their role effectively.  
 
ii) The process receives effective support from the council’s corporate management team who 

ensures that information provided to overview & scrutiny is of high quality and is provided in a 
timely and consistent manner.  

 
Practice  
 
iii) Overview & scrutiny is councillor-led, takes into account the views of the public, partners and 

regulators, and balances the prioritisation of community concerns against issues of strategic risk 
and importance.  

 
iv) Overview & scrutiny meetings and activities are well-planned, chaired effectively and make best 

use of the resources available to it.  
 

Impact  
 
v) Decision makers give public account for themselves at overview & scrutiny committees for their 

portfolio responsibilities.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX I 

Page 86



National Welsh Scrutiny Officers Network  
 
Outcomes and characteristics for effective local government overview & scrutiny  
 
 
 
3. The public is 

engaged in 
democratic debate 
about the current 
and future 
delivery of public 
services.  

 
“Better engagement” 

 
Environment 
 
i) Overview & scrutiny is recognised by the executive and corporate management team as an 

important council mechanism for community engagement, and facilitates greater citizen 
involvement in governance.   

 
Practice  
 
ii) Overview & scrutiny is characterised by effective communication to raise awareness of, and 

encourage participation in democratic accountability.   
 

iii) Overview & scrutiny operates non-politically and deals effectively with sensitive political issues, 
tension and conflict.  

 
iv) Overview & scrutiny builds trust and good relationships with a wide variety of internal and external 

stakeholders.  
 

Impact  
 

v) Overview and scrutiny enables the 'voice' of local people and communities across the area to be 
heard as part of decision and policy-making processes.  
 

  
 

Page 87



APPENDIX II 

  Scrutiny Work Programme – Prioritisation Process 
 
Does this issue affect a number of people 
living, working and studying in the County 
Borough? 

NO 

 
YES 

 

 

Does the issue match the strategic aims of 
the council?  

NO 

 
YES 

 

 

Will the scrutiny activity add value? Is 
performance likely to improve as a result of 
scrutiny activity?  

NO 

 
YES 

 

 

Will scrutiny work be duplicating other 
work? 

YES  

 
YES 

 

 

Is the Council due to review the relevant 
policy area (allowing scrutiny 
recommendations to influence the new 
direction to be taken)? 

 
 NO  

 
YES 

 

 
 

Is it an issue of concern to Partners, 
Stakeholders, and/or the Community? 

 

 NO 

 
YES 

 

 

Are there adequate resources available to 
do the scrutiny well? 

NO 

 
YES 

 

 

Is the scrutiny activity timely? NO 
 

YES 
 

 

 

ACCEPT 
High 

Priority 

REJECT 
CONSIDER 

Medium / 
Low 

 

Page 88



3)  A Guide to Scrutiny Work Programmes  

 

Scrutiny Work programmes 
 
Scrutiny is a Member-led function and as such it is 
up to the scrutiny committee itself to determine the 
work programme. It is vital that scrutiny members 
take responsibility for both drawing up and 
managing their own work programme 
 
Setting the work programme for scrutiny 
committees is an important stage in the scrutiny 
process. A work programme will show the topics to 
be considered over the coming months and will 
provide a clear picture to the public, officers and 
other interested parties of scrutiny activity. 
 
Scrutiny should be able to demonstrate that as a 
consequence of its activity there have been 
improvements in services and performance. It must 
also be able to show that its activities are what 
people want and can help to add the most value. It 
is therefore essential that the process for selection 
of scrutiny topics is thorough and robust. 
 
Effective work programming is the bedrock of an 
effective scrutiny function. Done well, it can help to 
lay the foundations for targeted, incisive and timely 
work on issues of local importance, where scrutiny 
can add value. Done badly, scrutiny can end up 
wasting time and resources on issues where the 
impact of any work done is likely to be minimal.   
 
The Wales Audit Office says that “Councils should 
ensure that the contents of forward work 
programmes are based on sound criteria with a 
clear rationale for topic selection and that sufficient 
consideration is given to the method of scrutiny, 
rather than just the selection of topics. A key 
criterion for the selection of topics and the method 
of scrutiny should be the extent to which scrutiny 
committees are likely to have an impact in the area 
they have selected.” 
 
There is no instant formula to decide which topics 
to scrutinise. The key to effective scrutiny is for 
Members to select topics where they can make 
the greatest contribution. 
 
Balancing the Workload 
 
In setting a work programme committee 
members may wish to refer to the Centre for 
Public Scrutiny’s (CfPS) ‘Four Principles of Good 
Overview and Scrutiny’ i.e.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
a) To provide a ‘critical friend’ challenge,  
b) To reflect the voice and concerns of the public 

and its communities,  
c) To take the lead and own the scrutiny process 

and  
d) Make an impact on service delivery. 
 
Based on these four principles, a number of key 
functions make up the core business of scrutiny. 
Ideally, in setting its work programme, scrutiny 
should aim for a balance between these different 
roles, which include:- 
 
Holding the Executive (Cabinet as a whole and 
individual Cabinet Members) to account for the  
quality and appropriateness of its/their decisions; for 
the performance of the council against local and 
national standards; and for the improvement of 
individual services and departments.  
 
Policy review - this could be for a number of 
reasons including changes in legislation and 
government guidance or a local policy that is no 
longer fit for purpose or needs updating. 
 
Policy development - in addition to reviewing 
existing policies and services, scrutiny has a role in 
developing and making recommendations for new 
policy. This is often at the request of the executive or 
full council but may also be a response to any third 
party request or under scrutiny’s own initiative. 
 
External scrutiny - the Local Government Act 2000 
gives scrutiny committees the power to examine and 
make recommendations on matters which are not the 
responsibility of the local authority but which 
nevertheless affect the local authority’s area or its 
inhabitants 
 
The 8 Elements of Work Programme 
success 
 
1. Be realistic. Start small and add elements if time 

permits. 
2. Make sure scrutiny Councillors take the lead in 

identifying and managing the work programme. 
3. Identify some ‘quick wins’ to gain confidence in 

the early stages. 
4. Shift/filter/prioritise your work programme. 
5. Select a small number of issues which can be 

examined in depth. 
6. Make sure the issues are of interest to members, 

Page 89



relevant to the work of the authority – don’t 
avoid politically contentious issues. 

7. Work programmes that cover 6-12 month 
periods work best. 

8. Ensure that you monitor the results.  
 
Selection Criteria 
 
The following criteria could be used by the Scrutiny 
Committee and to support the evaluating and 
prioritising of each proposed topic for the Scrutiny 
Committee work programmes. This process is not 
set in stone. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Suggestions for scrutiny topics come 
from a variety of sources: 
 
• Suggestions made by Council Members and Co-

opted members  
• Suggestions made by senior management  
• Suggestions made by members of the public 
• Corporate performance reports  
• Suggestions made by partners and stakeholders  
• Suggestions made by Regulators 
• The Council's Corporate Plan / Corporate 

Priorities 
• The Cwm Taf PSB’s Plans and Strategies 
• Topics from budget monitoring reports  
• Issues from audit and inspection reports  
• Performance issues. 
• Inspectors’ and regulators’ concerns 

 
The Committee will also have considered Its areas of 
responsibilities / remit; the roles that scrutiny 
undertakes e.g. holding the Cabinet and decision-
makers to account, policy review and development, 
performance monitoring, and  external scrutiny. 

 

 
How to contact us. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Scrutiny Support Officer 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Democratic Services Department 
Civic Centre, Castle Street 
MERTHYR TYDFIL 
CF47 8AN 

 
 
01685 725464 

 

 
 
scrutiny@merthyr.gov.uk 

 

 

 
http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-
committees/scrutinycommittees/ 

 

Page 90

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-committees/scrutinycommittees/
http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-committees/scrutinycommittees/


 

APPENDIX III 
 

 
Scrutiny Work Programme Proposal / Request Form 

 
 
Item(s) for ………………………………….………..Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
 
Topic/Subject …………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………. 
 
Q) Why has the item been suggested for the scrutiny work programme? 
�  Is the issue a priority area for the Council? 

� Is it a key issue for local people? 

� Will it be practicable to implement the outcomes of the scrutiny? 

� Are improvements for local people likely? 

� Does it examine a poor performing service? 

� Will it result in improvements to the way the Council operates? 

� Is it related to new Government guidance or legislation? 

� Other – please specify…………………………………………………………… 
 
Please provide further details……………………………………………………………………. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the committee? 
            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 

� To determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department 

� To determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose 

� To satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a major 
issue  

� To gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny   
investigation / review 

� To explore possible solutions to an issue 

� Other – please specify……………………………………………………………………….. 
 
Please provide further details……………………………………………………………………. 
 

Page 91



 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
 
Q) What outcome is being sought from the consideration of this item? 
� To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet regarding the 

proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

� Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 

� To receive an overview presentation. 

� To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 

� To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the pressures facing 
each service. This also helps provide an overview of the policy frame work.  

� For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of the 
corporate plan / other plan / other strategy. 

� Improvement in service delivery 

� other – please specify…………………………………………………………… 
 
Please provide further details……………………………………………………………………. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range of 
witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and External 
partners – e.g. Police, Health Board etc 

 
Please provide further details……………………………………………………………………. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



 

Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations? 
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Department / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This will 
assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer ready 
for the meeting.  

 
Please provide further details……………………………………………………………………. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item and for 

the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 
Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. You 
may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. community 
centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some people find the 
formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more appropriate to see 
first hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining information on e.g. waste 
sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Please provide further details……………………………………………………………………. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 93



 

Examples of types of scrutiny (what is appropriate for each topic) 
 
1. Policy Review & Development – where the Committee contributes to the 

development of policy by scrutinising and making recommendations on policy 
proposals. Scrutiny Members may wish to be kept informed regarding new legislation, 
policy refreshing exercises and the outcomes of external assessments in order to 
provide recommendations to the Cabinet on policy.  

 
2. Pre-Decision Scrutiny - Where the Committee evaluates and comments upon policy 

proposals before they go to the Cabinet, giving the Cabinet the opportunity to know 
Scrutiny Members’ views prior to making their decision. Members may wish to keep 
informed of areas coming up on the agenda of Cabinet, in case they wish to pre-
scrutinise items. 

 
3. Performance Monitoring – where the Committee regularly analyses key performance 

data from the service areas within its remit in order to: highlight good performance; 
identify poor performance; examine trends over time; benchmark against other 
authorities; and examine the impact that initiatives and changes in resources have on 
performance and service delivery. By undertaking this role scrutiny may identify 
subjects that require further investigation 

 
4. Task and Finish – where the Committee examines a clearly defined topic using a 

planned approach over a set period of time, including: receiving evidence from 
Cabinet, officers and external witnesses; collating good practice; site visits where 
necessary; consulting stakeholders; and delivering a clear set of key findings and 
recommendations. 

 
5. Briefing Papers – where the Committee is receiving information on a topic to facilitate 

future scrutiny and analysis of that issue. 
 

6. Call-in – where the Committee is considering a recent Cabinet or officer decision that 
a non-executive Councillor has requested be re-considered, and which meets the 
Council’s criteria for Call-in as per the Constitution. 

 
7. In-depth topic reviews – Scrutiny Members may identify a topic they wish to review 

in depth. This enables Members to take time to consider evidence about the service 
area or organisation in question from various stakeholders, and present wide ranging 
recommendations aimed at service improvement. 

 
8. Overview - one of scrutiny’s main functions is to monitor the Council’s budget, service 

performance, and key decisions. The Scrutiny Committees also have an ‘overview’ 
remit and may have items on the agenda to brief Members about an area of work 
relevant to their terms of reference. Oversight of these areas is routine business and 
normally planned in advance. By undertaking this monitoring scrutiny may identify 
subjects that require further investigation.  

 
9. Short scrutinies - Scrutiny members can question senior officers and cabinet 

members about an issue in just one or two meetings. This approach enables scrutiny 
to address key, topical issues quickly. It is a useful way of holding to account or of 
highlighting quickly the work being done by the Council in relation to residents' areas 
of concern, or to have an update from a previous scrutiny to monitor progress. These 
short scrutinies are also a useful way for members to monitor and challenge a service 
or policy over a period of time and carry out broad, light touch, overview of services. 
The outcomes of these discussions are likely to be comments to the Cabinet Member, 
rather than detailed reports with a number of evidence-based recommendations. 

Page 94



  

 

GARETH CHAPMAN 
(Chief Executive) 

 

ELLIS COOPER 
(Deputy Chief Executive) 

 
 

SUE WALKER 
Chief Officer 
0 LEARNING0 

 

LISA CURTIS-JONES 
Chief Officer 

0 SOCIAL SERVICES0 

 

CHERYLLEE EVANS 
Chief Officer 

0NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES0 

 

ALYN OWEN 
Chief Officer   

0COMMUNITY REGENERATION0 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Chief Education Officer (Statutory Role) 
School Improvement (David Swallow) 
Inclusion & Wellbeing (Sarah Bowen)  
School Planning & Improvement (A Lewis) 
Additional Learning Needs (Dorothy Haines) 
Governor Services (Gary Winston) 
 

 

Director of Social Services 
Adults Social Services (Mark Anderton) 
Children’s Social Services (Annabelle Lloyd) 
Community Development (Ian Benbow) 
Safeguarding (Alex Beckham) 

 
Corporate Property & Estates (Lisa Emerson / Mick 
Campbell) 
Waste Management (Paul Davies) 
Highways & Engineering (Darren Chaffe / Kevin 
Davies) 
Fleet Management (Mick Campbell) 
Grounds Maintenance (Rob Barnett) 
Street Cleansing / Tidy Towns (Paul Jones) 
Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement (Paul 
Jones)  
Parks & Bereavement Services (Rob Barnett) 
Planning & Countryside (Judith Jones) 
 

 
Physical Regeneration (Chris Long) 
Economic Development (Chris Long) 
Tourism (Chris Long) 
Employment / Employability Services (Chris 
Long) 
European and External Funding (Chris 
Long) 
Destination Management Plan Co-
ordinator 
Public Protection & Housing (Steve Peters) 
 

Mark Thomas 
(Head of Corporate Services) 

 
Customer Contact Centre (G Edwards/C 
O’Neill) 
Service Support (G Edwards/Sian Thomas) 
Executive Support (G Edwards/Heidi Jones) 
CCTV / Lifeline (G Edwards /Sian Davies) 
Parking Administration, Enforcement & 
Strategy (G Edwards) 
CTPSB (Suzanne Davies) 
Benefits and Revenues (Benefits, C.Tax, 
Debtors, Cash Collection) (Mike Parry)  
Internal Audit (Gary Evans)  
Leisure Trust / Active Lifestyles / Sports, 
Leisure & Culture Development (John 
Sellwood) 
Partnerships (Suzanne Davies) 
 
 

Carys Kennedy 
(Head of Legal & Governance) 

 
Monitoring Officer 
Legal (Simon Jones) 
Democratic Services(Ann Taylor) 
Electoral Services (Ann Taylor) 
Register of Electors (Ann Taylor) 
Scrutiny Services (Howard Jones) 
Information Governance (Lisa Donnelly) 
Human Resources and Organisational 
Development (Fran Donnelly) 
 

Anthony Lewis 
(Head of School Planning and Improvement) 

 
Planning of  School Places and School 
Admissions (Helen Griffiths) 
21st Century Schools Programme (Anthony 
Lewis) 
School Organisation Planning (Anthony Lewis) 
Education Asset Management (Anthony Lewis) 
School Catering / Schools Buildings and 
Facilities Management / School Health & Safety 
/ School Cleaning / School Caretaking (Edwina 
Pickering) 
Local Management of Schools & School 
Resource (Craig Flynn) 
Education Management Information Systems 
(Capita One) (Emma Strand) 
 
 

Annabel Lloyd 
(Head of Children Social Services & Safeguarding) 

 

Wellbeing & Early Response (Joe Rhys-Jones)   
Services Supporting Permanence (Sarah Skuse)  
Merthyr Tydfil Family Centre & Contact (Pauline Lipian) 
Family Support (Kathryn O’Keefe) 
Intake (Gareth Powell) / Advocacy (Annabel Lloyd) 
Children with Disabilities (Jon Eyre)  
Early Intervention (Jon Eyre)  
Children Looked After (LAC) (Tammy Griffiths-Type)  
Fostering & Adoption (Angela Allen)  
LAC Education Support (LACES) (Jessica Jones) 
Children’s MASH) (Joe Rhys-Jones / Gareth Powell) 
Multi Intervention Assistance (MIA) (Gareth Kedward) 
Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service (Jason O’Brien RCT) 
Cwm Taf Integrated Family Support (Jay Goulding (RCT) 
 
 

 
Fran Donnelly 

 (Head of Human Resources and 
Organisational Development) 

(Reports to Carys Kennedy) 
 

HR Operations (P. Williams) 
HR Advice for Schools (Donna Perry) 
HR Admin (G Estabanez) 
Occupational Health (Alison Davies) 
Job Evaluation (Leanne Edwards) 
Health & Safety (A Dinham) 
Pensions (N Zeraschi) 
Payroll (David Jones) 
Trade Unions 

Judith Jones 
 (Head of Planning & Countryside) 

 
Development Control (Planning applications, 
Appeals & Enforcement) 
Building Control (Building Regulations & 
Dangerous Structures) 
Planning Policy & Implementation (Local 
Development Plan, Built Heritage Conservation, 
Landscape, Ecology & Biodiversity, G.I.S. 
 
“Countryside” relates to ecology, biodiversity and 
landscape which sit under the umbrella of 
implementation within the ‘Planning policy and 
Implementation section’, for which Chris O’Brien is 
the Group Leader. 

Steve Peters 
(Head of Public Protection & Housing) 

 
Housing Services (Strategic/Housing 
Solutions/ Homelessness) (J Pike). 
Housing Renewal Area (J Pike). 
Disabled Facility Grants (J Pike). 
Licensing (Paul Lewis).  
Trading Standards / Licensing (Paul Lewis). 
Environmental  Health (Sue Gow) 
Home to School / Subsidised Transport 
(Paul Lewis).  
Registry Service (Lorraine Evans). 
Community Safety (J Pike). 

Mark Anderton 
(Head of Adult Social Services) 

 

Supported People and Accom.(Lowri Morgan)   
Day Services (Rob Derrick) 
Initial Support Services (Angela Edevane)  
Community Occ. Therapy (Sonia Lloyd-Williams) 
Older People and Disability (Nicola Hughes) 
Community Mental Health (Alyson Jones) 
Psychiatry of Old Age (Alyson Jones) 
Advocacy (Mark Anderton) 
Complaints ((Jonathan Strong / Gaynor Lewis)  
Assessment & Charging (Jonathan Strong /Lesley-Anne 
Gallent) / Contracting  (Gareth Richards)  
Llysfaen (Chris Bartz) 
Ty Bargoed Newydd (Treharris) (Margaret Davidson) 
Ty Gurnos Newydd (Gurnos) (Nancy Harding) 
Adults MASH (Alex Beckham) 
Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development  (Jon Day 
RCT) 
 

 

Steve Jones 
(Head of Finance) 

 
Section 151 Officer 
Accountancy (Adele Lewis) 
Insurance (Huw Davies) 
Procurement (Paul Davies) 
Creditors (Huw Sims) 
Corporate Finance (Steve Jones) 
 

 
 

Ellis Cooper 
Other Departments:- 

 
Corporate Comm’s (Ceri Dinham) 
I.T. /  Print & Design (Richard Evans) 
Emergency Planning (Rob Gough) 
Business Change  (A Mogford) 
Risk Management / Equalities/Welsh 
Language (K O’Donovan) (Reports to A 
Mogford) 
Performance (Reports to A Mogford) 
 

(Reports direct to Ellis Cooper) 
 

Chris Hole 
  (Head of Community Wellbeing) 

 

Early Years & Flying Start (Sarah Davies) 
Youth & Youth Services (Samantha Morgan) 
Families First (James Watkins) 
Communities First (Vacant) 
Play (Chris Hole) / Integrated Children’s Centre (Nerys 
Jones) / Adult Community Learning (Jayne Powney) 
Parenting (Anthony Mee) 
NEET’s (Diane Jones) 
 
 

 
Learning and LAESCYP  

Scrutiny Committee 

 
Social Services  

Scrutiny Committee 

 
Neighbourhood Services, Planning  

& Countryside  
Scrutiny Committee 

 

 
Regeneration and Public 

Protection  
Scrutiny Committee 

(Also Crime & Disorder Committee) 

 
Governance, Performance, Business Change  

and Corporate Services  
Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Lisa Mytton (Portfolio Member for 
Learning) 

Cllr David Hughes (Portfolio Member for Social 
Services) 

Cllr Howard Barrett (Portfolio Member for  
Neighbourhood Services, Planning  

& Countryside) 

 
 Cllr Geraint Thomas (Portfolio 

Member for  Regeneration and Public 
Protection) 

 

 Cllr Andrew Barry  
(Portfolio Member for “Governance and Corporate Services”) 

MTCBC Scrutiny Committee Remits 
A

P
P

E
N

D
IX IV 

P
age 95



APPENDIX IV 

The responsibilities of Scrutiny committees can be split into four main areas as 
detailed below. 

 

1. Holding Portfolio Holders to account for the services within their areas of 
responsibility 

The Cabinet system for local government means that the Leader and Portfolio 
Holders are directly accountable for all of the services provided by the Council. This 
means that Portfolio Holders are asked to present reports to Scrutiny and are held 
accountable for the Council's performance.  

Portfolio Holders are also held to account scrutiny through performance monitoring. 
Portfolio Holders are invited to present monitoring reports on targets in their portfolio. 
This gives the Committee a chance to take an overview of progress towards 
achieving the aims of the Council for the year and helps to show the clear 
relationship with the Portfolio Holder's responsibility for the service area. 

 

2. Contributing to the development and review of key Council policies and 
programmes 

Scrutiny plays a vital role in maintaining an overview of the Council's work and 
looking in depth at programmes of work or issues which either have particular 
significance for residents or have been highlighted as areas of concern. 

In order to undertake this work, the Committee can set up Informal Task & Finish 
Groups of committee members who work with officers in the relevant area to review 
the issue and report back to their parent scrutiny committee. If there are any 
recommendations these are then passed to Cabinet for consideration and, if agreed, 
implementation. 

Scrutiny can also ask for ad hoc reports on aspects of the Council's business 
throughout the year. 

Scrutiny can do the following in relation to policy development and review: 

a) Help the Council develop its budget and policy framework by looking at policy 
issues; 

b) Carry out research and consultation when looking into policy issues and 
possible options; 

c) Put in place mechanisms to encourage community participation and the 
development of policy options; 

d) Question Members of Cabinet, the Chief Executive / Deputy Chief Executive, 
Heads of Service and senior Officers about their views on issues and proposals 
affecting the County Borough; 

Page 96

jonesh1
Text Box

jonesh1_1
Text Box

jonesh1_2
Text Box
               APPENDIX V



e) Liaise with other external organisations operating in the area to make sure that 
working in partnership is in the interests of local people. 

 

3. Challenging decisions made by Cabinet or Portfolio Holders 

The Council's constitution allows scrutiny to 'call in' Cabinet decisions. When 'call in' 
has been used, Cabinet is not able to implement a decision until the matter has been 
considered by the Scrutiny.  

 

4. Reviewing the overall benefit to the public from services provided by the 
City Council and other organisations 

Scrutiny is able to scrutinise any matter affecting the County Borough or its 
residents. To help undertake this important role, it is able to scrutinise services 
provided by external organisations as well as those provided by the Council.  

Scrutiny can also review the Council's partnership working in relevant areas. They 
are able to look at all aspects of a partnership's work including the Council's role, 
performance management and monitoring work programmes. 

One difference with this external role is that Scrutiny cannot require a representative 
from those external organisations to come and give evidence. Rather, it can invite 
external people to attend to give evidence. 

Page 97



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 
Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet 

Member  
Scrutiny Focus  

12th June 2018 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

24th July 2018 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

11th September 2018 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

23rd October 2018 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

4th December 2018 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  

22nd January 2019 
  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  

 
  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  Draf
t d

ate
s t

o b
e c

on
firm

ed
 / a

gre
ed

 at
 A

GM

P
age 98



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 
  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  

 

12th March 2019 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

23rd April 2019 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  
 

 
Additional items to consider for Work 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Violence against 
Women Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Updates 
 

Discussed at the 27th February 2018 meeting to be added to the work programme.  
 
Violence against Women Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Updates 
 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Social Services Budget 
Updates 

Discussed at the 27th February 2018 meeting to be added to the work programme. 
 
Social Services Budget Updates and a report into the outsourcing (Group Home) Business case and whether it 
would be cheaper for the Authority to take back this service 
 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

  

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

  

Draf
t d

ate
s t

o b
e c

on
firm

ed
 / a

gre
ed

 at
 A

GM

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 CTSB Annual Plan 2018-19
	CTSB Annual Plan 2018-2019 ATTACHMENT

	4 Wellbeing Objective: Developing Safer Communities
	5 Wellbeing Objective: People Have Good Physical and Mental Health
	6 Wellbeing Objective: People Live Independently
	7 Annual Report Social Services Complaints, Representations and Compliments 2016/2017
	8 Developing a Work Programme for 2018/19
	Report - How to develop a Work Programme 2018 19
	To:  Committee Members,
	Developing a Work Programme for 2018/19
	4.10 An article will be in the next Contact magazine asking the public for suggestions for the work programmes. The Communications department will also put notifications out on Twitter and Facebook asking for work programme suggestions.
	4.11 There is a mechanism in place on the scrutiny pages of the Councils website to allow anyone to submit suggestions for the work programmes (online form).
	4.12 Should any members of the committee have suggestions to get the public more involved in the scrutiny process, please can you contact the scrutiny section accordingly.

	1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
	2.0  RECOMMENDATION(S) that

	Social Services Services Scrutiny Committee Annual Work Programme Report
	Report - How to develop a Work Programme 2018 19
	To:  Committee Members,
	Developing a Work Programme for 2018/19
	4.10 An article will be in the next Contact magazine asking the public for suggestions for the work programmes. The Communications department will also put notifications out on Twitter and Facebook asking for work programme suggestions.
	4.11 There is a mechanism in place on the scrutiny pages of the Councils website to allow anyone to submit suggestions for the work programmes (online form).
	4.12 Should any members of the committee have suggestions to get the public more involved in the scrutiny process, please can you contact the scrutiny section accordingly.

	1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
	2.0  RECOMMENDATION(S) that

	APPENDIX I Outcomes and characteristics for effective local government overview & scrutiny
	APPENDIX II Scrutiny Work Programme Prioritisation Process
	APPENDIX 2a A guide to Scrutiny Work Programmes
	APPENDIX III Scrutiny Work Programme Proposal Request Form
	APPENDIX IV MTCBC Scrutiny Committee Remits
	Appendix V The responsibilities of Scrutiny committees
	1 Governance





